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J
amaica, a nation built on excellence, has undoubtedly left an indelible mark on 

the world. The ability to make such an impact comes as a direct result of the pride, 

resilience and dedication of its people. The moments of highs and lows are collectively 

celebrated and reflected, with the sole aim of improving as a nation. It is with this objective 

in mind that Wisynco, a proud Jamaican manufacturer and distributor, continues to pursue 

its goals of strengthening brand Jamaica and the future of our economy.

Since its establishment in 1965, it is with pride that Wisynco has contributed to the 

wealth and development of Jamaica through employment, foreign exchange earnings, 

and investment. With the Company’s main business ventures being in manufacturing, 

distribution and exportation, Wisynco has been able to support Jamaica’s water and 

beverage needs in addition to the distribution of a wide variety of high-quality grocery 

products. For Wisynco, its success in business contributes to success for Jamaica, as the 

Company has employed a sales and distribution force, including administrative support 

of approximately 1,800–one of the largest in Jamaica–while supporting the distribution of 

142 brands to a customer base of over 12,000 supermarkets, food service outlets, retail and 

wholesale channels, and schools. 

Wisynco has also been humbled and privileged to champion several social and 

philanthropic causes in the areas of education, health and wellness, poverty, homelessness, 

sport, and environmental preservation and protection. The Company’s vested interest 

in the nation’s well-being has helped build sturdy relationships with communities and 

consumers while helping those in need.

The Company is grateful for its achievements over the years. It is inexpressibly 

appreciative of the support of its partners and consumers in advancing its mission 

to improve the lives of our people. With the theme of Jamaica’s 60th Independence 

Anniversary– ‘Reigniting a Nation for Greatness’–still reverberating, Wisynco reflects on 

its historical efforts towards nation-building and looks forward, expectantly, to future 

opportunities to foster national growth. 

Contribution to Nation Building
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MANUFACTURING & EXPORT

MANUFACTURING 

From its ‘Iron Man’, ‘Mr. Robin’ and 

Gator shoes in the 1960s and 70s to 

its current brands–WATA, CranWA-

TA, BIGGA and BOOM–Wisynco has 

experienced remarkable growth in 

manufacturing and production. Ini-

tially, along with a variety of footwear, 

Wisynco specialized in manufacturing 

styrofoam cups, egg cartons, plastic 

lining for refrigerators, and a wide 

range of disposables and packaging. 

The affordable and easily accessible 

items were well-received by house-

holds, farmers and business profes-

sionals. In the 1970s, the National 

Consumers’ League commended the 

Company for introducing transparent 

plastic containers on the market for 

their see-through value to shoppers 

while farmers were appreciative of the 

Company’s egg cartons–made from 

polystyrene foam–which helped re-

duce egg breakage and the likelihood 

of bacteria.

From then to now, Wisynco has 

remained steadfast in its vision to 

bring solutions to Jamaica through 

the manufacturing of its products. In 

fact, in 1996 the Company set up the 

Jamaica Drink Company–a carbonat-

ed soft drink manufacturing plant–

that led to the creation of the iconic 

Jamaican soft drink, BIGGA. The bold, 

bubbly, colourful and effervescent 

beverage represents the pride, confi-

dence and temperament of Jamaican 

people. 

Progressing further, in 2002, 

Wisynco introduced its own brand of 

purified water and, in keeping with 

Jamaican patois and national pride, 

named it ‘WATA’. Today, the brand, 

now a household name, remains 

Rooted in Our History
Manufacturing is rooted in Jamaica’s history, with 

the sector being the second-largest contributor to the 

economy. The celebration of Jamaica’s Diamond Jubilee is 

the prime opportunity to salute the diverse manufacturing 

companies that have pioneered development of the nation 

and contributed to its economic growth. Marked by the 

international demand of traders and merchants keen to do 

business with Jamaica, the country’s main exports and its 

growing supply of Jamaican-made products continue to set 

the bar high.

For over 57 years, Wisynco has proudly contributed to 

nation-building in these areas. It is pleased to reflect on the 
intentional and providential acts of its years in business that 

have benefited the Company and the nation by extension.

1989
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robust, supplying not only the basic 

need of access to water but a level 

of quality, consistency, and compli-

ance with international standards 

that Jamaicans have come to enjoy. 

It is only fitting that the introduc-

tion of CranWATA followed in 2008. 

The naturally fruit-flavoured brand 

has remained the premier flavoured 

water of choice in Jamaica. Wisynco 

was pleased to introduce Jamaica’s 

first locally produced energy drink, 

BOOM, in 2010. 

Combined, Wisynco’s manufac-

turing and production of BIGGA, 

BOOM, WATA and CranWATA, has 

contributed to the employment 

of tens of thousands of Jamaicans 

directly and indirectly.

1969

1996
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EXPORT

Through exportation, Wisynco has 

expanded its markets and supported 

economic growth in Jamaica in expo-

nential ways. With an increase in pro-

duction and storage capacity in recent 

years, the Company’s export volumes 

have doubled in recent years and cur-

rently account for 3% of total revenue. 

With a vision for continued growth, 

Wisynco is working towards growing its 

exports by 50% annually and eventu-

ally reaching an optimum goal of 10% 

of the Company’s total revenue within 

the next 5 years, targeting regions such 

as North America, the United Kingdom 

(UK), and the Caribbean with Bigga, 

Tru-Juice, Squeezz, WATA, BOOM and 

all manufactured beverages.

The Company has come a long 

way from its first export in 1965 with 

the Jamaican-made ‘Iron Man’ water 

boots that rapidly became a household 

MANUFACTURING & EXPORT

1996

1969

name. With local success in sales, the 

Company began exporting across the 

West Indies as hundreds of thousands 

of pairs of the vinyl rubber boots 

remained in demand. More than the 

financial success attained, Wisynco 

understood the relevance of the water 

boots and the ‘Mr. Robin’ plastic shoes 

as they presented a cost-efficient 

solution to less fortunate parents who 

found that the footwear wasn’t easily 

destructible. This consideration for 

persons within lower-income families 

has remained a hallmark of Wisynco’s 

operations. The Gator shoes, made up 

of men’s and children’s sneakers, dress 

shoes and casual shoes, soon followed 

as another favourite that helped supply 

the footwear needs of the region.

Today, continuing its support of 

nation-building in Jamaica, Wisynco 

primarily exports  Bigga Soft Drinks, 

Tru-Juice, WATA, and CranWATA to 

24 markets including North America, 

Europe, Central America and the Carib-

bean. It has also formed partnerships 

with international companies for the 

distribution of its locally-made bever-

ages in European, UK and Caribbean 

markets, further cementing Jamaica’s 

place in the international ring.
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DISTRIBUTION

On the other hand, the Company 

has facilitated the local distribution 

of numerous international products 

previously out of reach to the average 

Jamaican. 

By 1995, it became the distributor 

of Ocean Spray cranberry juices for 17 

years. Then, in 1996, through Wisynco’s 

partnership with the Pillsbury Compa-

ny, Jamaica became the first CARICOM 

country in which the popular American 

ice cream brand, Häagen-Dazs, was 

distributed. 

Wisynco continued its partnership 

efforts over the years by becoming the 

distributor of Coca-Cola products on a 

non-exclusive basis in 2006; the exclu-

sive distributor of Red Bull in 2010 and 

the exclusive bottlers and distributors 

of the Coca-Cola Company for Jamaica 

products such as Coca-Cola, Sprite, 

Minute Maid and Schweppes in 2010. 

2019

2006

DISTRIBUTION

St. Mary’s Tropical 

Snacks became an 

important part of 

our snack portfolio

Wisynco Group Limited 

is appointed the 

exclusive Coca-Cola 

distribution partner  

in Jamaica.

Creating industry-leading partnerships
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Wisynco has also copped the title 

as the leading Caribbean grocery 

importer of products from around 

the world and from major companies 

such as Kellogg’s, Nestle and General 

Mills. 

Through distribution, consumers 

across the island are equitably connect-

ed to the brands they love. Furthermore, 

supporting local companies, Wisynco also 

facilitates the distribution of locally-made 

products from Trade Winds Citrus Limited 

(TWCL) which produces Tru-Juice and 

other products; Worthy Park Estate Limited 

(WPEL) which produces the Worthy Park 

and Jamaica Gold Sugar, plus  Rum-Bar 

and the Worthy Park Spirits portfolios, and 

Jamaica Producers St Mary which produces 

a range of tropical snacks.

1996

2013

2018 In September 2018, Wisynco 

acquired a 30% stake in 

Worthy Park Estates and 

added sugar and rum to its 

distribution portfolio.

Tru Juice is the 

flagship brand 

of Wisynco’s 

new strate-

gic partner,  

Tradewinds 

Citrus Limited.
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ENVIRONMENT

ENVIRONMENT

Every person or business that exists or 

operates within a space should be mindful 

of the environment in which they operate. 

Aware of this responsibility, Wisynco has 

long been actively involved in research and 

development that leads to the protection 

and preservation of the environment.

As part of its environmental efforts, in 

1997 Wisynco became the first local Com-

pany to receive a United Nations Devel-

opment Programme (UNDP) payment of 

almost JMD 11 million to phase out Chlo-

rofluorocarbons (CFCs). The decision by 

the UNDP to offer financial support came 

1997
2020 Waterhouse Community Clean up
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2018

following the Company’s own initiative 

to successfully phase out the use of 

CFCs in its manufacturing of styrofoam 

in 1996. The initiative was a $50 million 

investment on the Company’s part 

that resulted in an annual reduction of 

approximately 81.6 tons of ozone-de-

pleting substances. 

Recycle For Life

During this period, Wisynco took its 

environmental efforts a step further by 

initiating its ‘Recycle For Life’ project 

aimed at recycling lightweight, shat-

ter-resistant polyethylene terephthal-

ate (PET) containers. These are contain-

ers used for soft drinks, juice, water, 

salad dressing, cooking oil, cough 

syrup and cleaning products. The Com-

pany received commendation from the 

then Government for its identification 

of over 300 organizations, schools and 

individuals interested in recycling PET 

containers. The containers could then 

be made into carpets, sweaters, T-shirts 

and even car parts. In 1997, Wisynco 

and those a part of the programme 

collected over 800,000 bottles, enough 

to support a 42,000 lb shipment of 

shredded plastic to the United States. 

Environmental sustainability

Consecutive governments in Jamai-

ca have underscored the importance 

of environmental sustainability for the 

benefit of future generations and the 

world at large. To promote such efforts 

in its operations, Wisynco commis-

sioned a $200 million one-megawatt 

solar plant in 2015 at its Lakes Pen 

headquarters in St Catherine. Further-

more, in 2019, the Company became 

the exclusive distributor for the Bio-

nature line of food-grade biodegrad-

able products following a partnership 

with Plastifar. The products, made of 

paper pulp, renewable raw material 

and CO2-neutral, provide Jamaicans 

with eco-friendly food service prod-

ucts. That same year, the Company also 

partnered with Lasco, Pepsi and Seprod 

to launch a voluntary charge for the 

recovery of plastic (PET) bottles. All 

funding received from the initiative has 

gone to Recycling Partners of Jamaica 

(RPJ) a registered charity in Jamaica to 

support their environmental causes.

In more recent years, Wisynco spear-

headed initiatives such as a Recycle 

Challenge for corporate entities; Eco 

Clubs which support recycling cam-

paigns at schools and staff volunteers 

called ‘Eco Troopers’ who are commit-

ted to the environment.

Wisynco Eco club 

members are recruited 

in schools islandwide 

and help to spread the 

message of recycling.
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ACHIEVEMENTS, CULTURE & CONTRIBUTIONS

While Wisynco’s successes over the years have served as motivation, they have 

also presented the Company with added opportunities for giving back. Nation-build-

ing would not be possible without the willingness of those with ample resources to 

share with those in need. For the Company, it is imperative that charitable actions 
are ingrained in its operations so that as the business grows so does the comfort, 

security, happiness and well-being of the nation’s people.

ACHIEVEMENTS

Since the first leap of faith in 1964 

with an investment of £150,000 to 

make the Company a reality, major 

achievements have paved the way for 

Wisynco to become one of Jamaica’s 

most thriving industrial companies. By 

the late 1970s, only 12 years after start-

ing out, Wisynco moved from its initial 

employment of 17 persons within a 

6,000 square feet (sq. ft) plant space to 

over 150 employees within 100,000 sq. 

ft. One of its strategic decisions was the 

expansion of its then Twickenham Park 

infrastructure for the development of a 

new section dedicated to production. It 

was built with export markets in mind 

as the Company anticipated signifi-

cant increases in demand for Jamai-

can-made products. 

Meanwhile, through the consistent 

training and development of its em-

ployees, Wisynco was able to expand 

and refine its tool-making and dye 

capabilities in 1989. Foam lunch boxes 

and other products became more 

vibrant with new dye techniques and 

their water boots moulding machine 

was modified to be compatible with 

new technologies. It was Wisynco’s 

encouragement of employees to 

think outside the box and apply their 

creativity that led to several innovative 

1991 Established its Fisheries Division

changes that benefited consumers.

Another achievement under Wisyn-

co’s belt was its entry into the fishing 

industry following the establishment of 

its Fisheries Division in 1991 which saw 

the Company producing 1.2 million 

pounds of fish per year for approxi-

mately six years using a Russian trawler 

and divers from Jamaica and the Do-

minican Republic.

Meanwhile, several mergers allowed 

for diversification, value creation and 

growth such as that of West Indies 

Synthetics Limited, the Jamaica Drink 

Company and Wisynco Trading Limited 

which formed Wisynco Group Limit-

ed in 2005. Then, in 2016, targeting 

increased production of brands such 

as BOOM and Coca-Cola, the Company 

injected a $600 million investment into 

a new bottling line that would produce 

up to 525 bottles per minute.

During the 2023 fiscal year, Wisyn-

co plans to inject billions into a slew 

of capital projects that will further 

advance its efforts to expand and 

increase production capacity to meet 

rising demands.
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CULTURE

Jamaica’s culture is arguably among 

the most vibrant and unique in the 

world. Its people, music, cuisine, dance, 

arts and craft, customs and beliefs all 

point to a rich heritage that has held firm 

throughout the test of time. Aware of 

its role in helping to preserve the things 

that make us unique, Wisynco has sup-

ported numerous events and initiatives 

that celebrate our cultural roots.

One of which is Reggae Sumfest, 

the world’s largest reggae concert that 

primarily showcases Jamaican legends 

in music that have made their mark in 

the local and international arena. For 

years, Wisynco has supported the event 

through sponsorship from several of 

its brands and brand partners. Mean-

while, Wisynco’s BOOM energy drink 

was the title sponsor of the historical 

2019 concert, ‘Buju Banton’s Long Walk 

to Freedom’. It was one of the country’s 

largest music concerts in history which 

marked the reggae icon’s return to the 

stage after an eight-year absence. 

Wisynco has also plugged its re-

sources into the Jazz and Blues festival 

and the Jamaican Food and Drink 

Festival, premium events that continue 

to attract hundreds of tourists to the 

island. Off-island, the Company has 

promoted its Jamaican-made products 

Preserving the things 
that make us unique
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at music concerts in New York and Flor-

ida; at the American Friends of Jamaica 

Annual Awards Dinner in New York 

City; at the Food for the Poor Walk/

Run in Deerfield Beach, Florida; at the 

Nottingham Carnival in London and at 

trade shows in Canada and the UK. 

The Company is proud of the ripple 

effect that has resulted from its sup-

port such as benefits to the tourism, 

hospitality and service industries and 

the overall expansion of brand Jamaica. 

It looks forward to its continual support 

of initiatives from the creative industry 

that help to keep the vibrancy of our 

culture alive.

CONTRIBUTIONS

When it comes to selflessly giv-

ing back, Wisynco has continuously 

set the pace for corporate society in 

Jamaica. Through Food For the Poor 

(FFP)–the largest international relief 

organization in the United States–

the Company has impacted count-

less lives locally and throughout 

the Caribbean and central America 

since 1982. FFP was incorporated 

in 1982 by Ferdinand Mahfood 

with the support of his brothers 

Joseph, Robin and Saleem (Sam). 

Since then, FFP has branched out to 

countries throughout the Carib-

bean and Latin America in need 

of food, clean water, healthcare, 

secure housing,  emergency relief, 

micro-enterprise projects and edu-

cation opportunities. 

In Jamaica, Wisynco has contrib-

uted its resources to the aforemen-

tioned causes with notable acts 

such as millions in donations to the 

construction of homes, the support 

of missionary outreaches, and con-

tribution to the needs of various 

ACHIEVEMENTS, CULTURE & CONTRIBUTIONS

Wisynco has been a pioneer in the support of community and national events like the Bigga 

Westmoreland Curry Festival.

SINCE 1982 Supporting the efforts of  The Food for the Poor
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schools. The Company has also donat-

ed hundreds of thousands of bottles of 

WATA, CranWATA and BIGGA to com-

munities and organizations in need 

and various groups of society during 

natural disasters and the COVID-19 

pandemic. To further support national 

well-being, the Company supported 

Jamaica’s health systems during the 

COVID-19 pandemic with PET bottles 

to make thousands of medical spacers 

and has provided financial assistance 

to the Kingston and St Andrew Mu-

nicipal Corporation and several other 

health institutions. 

Meanwhile, doing its part to ensure 

that Jamaica’s children have access 

to quality education and educational 

tools, Wisynco has partnered with sev-

eral educational institutions over the 

years. Notable was its partnership with 

the Edufocal learning platform to equip 

students with laptops and to support 

free access for some 16,000 students. 

Wisynco has also been a long-time sup-

porter of TVJ’s number one educational 

programme, the Schools Challenge 

Quiz and has awarded millions in schol-

arships and educational grants.

Sports

In the area of sports, Wisynco has 

supported thousands of amateur and 

professional participatory sporting 

events and organizations. Some of 

these include the Premier League 

Clubs Association (PLCA), administra-

tors of the Red Stripe Premier League; 

the Caribbean Club Championship 

(CFU); the CONCACAF Under-20 

Women’s Championships; the Reggae 

Boyz’ 2022 FIFA World Cup Journey to 

Qatar; the Jamaica Cricket Association’s 

Super League; the Jamaica Swimming 

Association; Netball Jamaica; Jamaica’s 

participation in the CARIFTA Games; 

the Inter-secondary Schools Sports 

Association (ISSA) and Manning and 

DaCosta Cup football.

ACHIEVEMENTS, CULTURE & CONTRIBUTIONS
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AWARDS

Wisynco’s dedication to excellent service 

and the development of the manufacturing, 

exportation and distribution sectors has not 

gone unnoticed. The Company has received 

awards from as way back as its Plant Certifica-

tion Mark from the Jamaica Bureau of Stan-

dards (JBS) in 1987 to more recent awards like 

the Governor General’s Trophy for Manufac-

turer of the Year at the Jamaica Manufacturers 

and Exporters Association’s (JMEA) annual 

awards in 2011-2013, 2015 and 2019. The 

Company was also awarded the Charles Hen-

derson-Davis award for Breakthrough Product 

of the Year with its CranWATA in 2013. 

Altogether, Wisynco’s solid financial perfor-

mance and advancements over the years are 

owed to its visionary leadership, the unwav-

ering commitment of its team, its valuable 

partnerships and the support of consumers 

worldwide. Its success has been a collective 

effort that is doubly rewarding because of its 

overarching benefit to Jamaica. Wisynco is 

proud of its wins that have resulted in wins 

for the nation and its locally-made products 

that help to promote brand Jamaica. Looking 

towards the future, the Company is eager to 

continue its support of nation-building in all 

the ways it can, through vision, determination 

and hard work.
1987

Chief Executive Officer, Andrew Mahfood, accepting the Governor General’s Award for manufacturer 

of the year on October 5, 2019.
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ABOUT THE COMPANY

Wisynco Group Limited is a proud Jamaican 

manufacturer and distributor. The Company was 

established in 1965, just three (3) years after Jamai-

ca declared its’ independence and began with the 

manufacturing of Ironman Waterboots. Every de-

cade of Wisynco’s existence has seen innovation and 

growth, be it through new industries, new partner-

ships or new export ventures. At Wisynco, innovation 

is viewed as the most effective driver of long-term 

sustainable shareholder value. By understanding the 

needs of the Jamaican consumer, the Company has 

been able to conceptualize several local beverage 

brands which have resonated with the Jamaican pal-

ate and lifestyle and which dominate in their respec-

tive categories. 

The Company currently produces its own brands 

of high-quality beverage products including BIGGA 

soft drinks, WATA, CranWATA, Sparkling CranWATA, 

Grape WATA and BOOM Energy Drink.  In addition to 

their owned brands, Wisynco is the exclusive bot-

tler and distributor for the popular brand portfolios 

Coca-Cola, Sprite, Minute Maid, and Squeezz bever-

ages.  The Company boasts an enviable portfolio of 

imported brands such as Red Bull, Nestle Ice Cream, 

Kelloggs, Pringles, Häagen Dazs, Welch’s, Chobani, 

and Colgate-Palmolive, as well as partnering through 

alliances with local manufacturers Trade Winds Citrus 

Limited, Worthy Park Estate and JP Snacks to manage 

the exclusive distribution of Tru Juice, Rum bar, Wor-

thy Park Select and St Mary’s.

The Wisynco Family has expanded over the years 

and has faced many triumphs and challenges togeth-

er, making the team more resilient and committed. 

Through the years the Company and its growing 

employee base have been guided by the principles of 

their founding fathers, who insisted that their priori-

ties in life should be ‘God first, Family second, Country 

and then Company’.  The Company Mission State-

ment; ‘To improve the lives of our people’, extends 

to all stakeholders, shareholders, team members, 

customers, partners and fellow Jamaicans alike. 

The Wisynco Team conceptualized the acronym 

C.H.I.R.P. which speaks to the values of Compassion, 

Humility, Integrity, Respect, and Passion. These values 

define the ‘Wisynco Way’ by which all Wisynco em-

ployees strive to live.

Wisynco takes great pride in offering quality 

products to the Jamaican market at competitive 

prices. The Company’s goal is to remain the premier 

distributor and manufacturer of food and beverages 

in Jamaica. This is achieved by constant innovation in 

existing and potential product categories. The variety 

of brands and packaged offerings the Company has in 

its portfolio provide the flexibility to reach all Jamai-
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can consumers.  Wisynco maintains international standards 

and is certified with the following: 

· ISO 9001:2015 [Quality Management Systems Certifi-

cation]

· FSSC 22000 v 4.1 [Food Safety Management Systems 

Certification]

· ISO 14001:2015 [Environmental Management Systems 

Certification]

· ISO 45001:2018 [Occupational Health and Safety Man-

agement Systems Certification]

Wisynco currently distributes approximately 140 brands 

and has a direct customer base of over 12,000 custom-

ers. This is made up primarily of supermarkets, retail and 

wholesale channels, schools, hotels, and food service out-

lets. It offers its products through distributors in Jamaica, 

Antigua, Bahamas, Trinidad, Grenada, Dominica, St. Lucia, 

Barbados, St. Vincent, Belize, Curaçao, Grand Cayman, 

Aruba, St. Kitts, St. Maarten, British Virgin Islands, US Virgin 

Islands, Bermuda, the United Kingdom, the United States, 

Canada, Guyana, Panama and Suriname. Wisynco prides 

itself on creating a differentiated customer experience, as 

such the focus is on providing innovative product offerings 

and superior customer service resulting in a high degree of 

customer loyalty.

With one of the largest sales forces in Jamaica, compris-

ing of approximately 750 sales-related employees, Wisynco 

boasts a sales and distribution infrastructure that has a 

significant presence in the marketplace, ensuring that all 

Wisynco represented products are well positioned and 

accessible to Jamaican consumers at all times. 

The Company operates from a modern centralized 

360,000 square foot warehouse space in St. Catherine and 

a 26,400 square foot warehouse facility at Hague, Trelawny.  

They also command a fleet of over 90 owned and over 

400 contracted trucks that deliver product directly to our 

vast customer base. Its in-trade assets include over 8,600 

coolers and 2,400 freezers which help to ensure the ready-

to-serve availability of their products.

In May 2022, the Company formally opened its first 

satellite distribution centre in Hague Trelawny.  The 26,400 

square foot facility is equipped with 600 pallet spaces and 

is intended to extend and improve our distribution foot-

print in Western Jamaica with an emphasis on access and 

reach to high frequency trade outlets.  Designed for future 

expansion, the new warehouse matches Wisynco’s thrust 

to improve distribution time lines and service levels across 

the island.
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Continuous product research 

and user testing facilitate 

the Wisynco connection to 

consumer needs and trends. 

Coupled with an 

adventurous spirit and a 

keen understanding of how 

Jamaican culture influences 
consumption, the Company is 

bold in its drive to innovate.  

Typically, one or more new 

brand or major product 

line extension is launched 

each year with predictable 

expansion in customer loyalty 

and brand presence.  

Our extensive portfolio of 

imported brands also ensures 

that we maintain multiple 

points of entry into Jamaican 

households.

The average Jamaican 
consumes a Wisynco 

product at least  
once every day. 
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NOTICE 

OF THE 

ANNUAL 

GENERAL 

MEETING

NOTES:

A member entitled to 

attend and vote at the 

meeting may appoint 

a proxy, who need not 

also be a member, to 

attend and so on a poll, 

vote on his/her behalf. 

A suitable form of proxy 

is enclosed.

Forms of Proxy must 

be lodged either at the 

Company’s Registered 

Office located at Lakes 

Pen Road, St. Catherine, 

or with the Registrar of 

the Company, the JCSD 

located at 40 Harbour 

Street, Kingston, not 

less than 48 hours 

before the time of the 

meeting. The Form 

of Proxy should bear 

stamp duty of $100.00 

which may be paid by 

adhesive stamps which 

are to be cancelled by 

the person signing the 

Proxy.

Please continue to 

check our website, 

social media pages and 

the local newspaper(s) 

for updates and/or 

changes leading up to 

our AGM.

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the FIFTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of Wisynco Group Limited 

(the Company) will be held on Thursday, February 16th , 2023 at 10:00 A.M. to consider, and if 

thought fit, to pass the following Resolutions:

1.  To receive the Audited Financial  

Statements for the year ended  

June 30, 2022 and the Reports of  

the Auditors and Directors thereon.  

To consider, and if thought fit, pass the 

following Resolution:

RESOLUTION 1

“THAT the Audited Financial Statements for 

the year ended June 30, 2022 and the Re-

ports of the Auditors and Directors thereon, 

be and are hereby adopted.”

2. To re-appoint Auditors and authorize the 

Directors to fix their remuneration. 

To consider, and if thought fit, pass the 

following Resolution:

RESOLUTION 2

“THAT PricewaterhouseCoopers, Chartered 

Accountants, having agreed to continue 

in office as Auditors, be and are hereby 

re-appointed Auditors of the Company to 

hold office until the next Annual General 

Meeting at a remuneration to be fixed by 

the Directors of the Company.”

3. To elect Directors: 

The Directors retiring by rotation in accor-

dance with section 114 of the Company’s 

Articles of Incorporation, are Mr. William 

Mahfood, Mr. Andrew Mahfood and  

Mr. François Chalifour, who, being eligible, 

offer themselves for re-election:

To consider, and if thought fit, pass the 

following Resolutions:

RESOLUTION 3(A)

“THAT the Directors retiring by rotation be 

re-elected by a single resolution.” 

RESOLUTION 3 (B)

“THAT the retiring Directors, Mr. William 

Mahfood, Mr. Andrew Mahfood and  

Mr. François Chalifour, be and are hereby 

re-elected Directors of the Company.”  

4. To approve the remuneration of the 

Directors.

To consider, and if thought fit, pass the 

following Resolution:

RESOLUTION 4

“THAT the amount shown in the Audited 

Accounts of the Company for the year end-

ed June 30, 2022 as fees of the Directors for 

their services as Directors, be and is hereby 

approved.

5. To approve the interim dividends as final 

for the year under review:

To consider, and if thought fit, pass the 

following Resolution:

RESOLUTION 5

“THAT the dividends of 20 cents per share 

paid on March 1st 2022, and August 4th 

2022 respectively, be and are hereby de-

clared final in respect of the financial year 

ended 30 June 2022.” 

Dated the 25th day of November 2022,  

by Order of the Board 

   

Andrew Fowles 

Company Secretary 

Registered Office: 

Lakes Pen Road, St Catherine
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Embracing Change 

CHAIRMAN AND CEO’S REPORT

Much like our beloved Jamaica which was full of self-belief 60 years ago and  

determined to chart her own destiny, Wisynco has proven during our 57 years of  

operation that growth comes through a willingness to embrace change and the  

passion to continue reaching for more. This year we count ourselves doubly blessed  

to lead a phenomenal team and celebrate our nation in its golden jubilee. 

We started the 2022 financial year under the 

cloud of COVID-19 which continued to have 

unpredictable impacts on the local and global econ-

omy. However, we are proud to note that, notwith-

standing the challenging operating environment, 

our team members were engaged, our strategy 

proved to be sound, and we continued to invest in 

the business for long-term sustainable growth. 

Most importantly we held fast to the Wisynco 

Way. These enduring values of compassion, humil-

ity, integrity, respect, and passion (C.H.I.R.P.) have 

continually guided our business and our people 

toward success and are a source of competitive 

advantage. It is through these values, our people, 

and steady leadership, that we delivered one of our 

best performances yet and laid the groundwork for 

a trajectory of growth for years to come. 

On behalf of the entire Board, we would like 

to thank our team for their hard work and com-

mitment, particularly our frontline teams in sales, 

production, and operations, who never wavered 

throughout COVID-19. We are also deeply grateful 

to our exceptional Executive team whose dedication 

and impeccable business acumen has driven our 

operations forward, enabling us to delight our loyal 

consumers, and continue to deliver top-tier total 

shareholder returns. 

RECORD PERFORMANCE

At Wisynco we pride ourselves on stellar custom-

er service. As we emerged from the pandemic, we 

wanted to restore that level of service to schools, 

restaurants, and to the hotel industry. We therefore 

took a multi-pronged approach in implementing 

a strategy for the business that centered around 

boosting sales while maintaining tight controls on 

expenditure. 

We focused on growing market share and skilful-

ly managed the global supply chain issues affecting 

businesses and consumers while improving our ex-

ecution and the positioning of our brands. We also 

ramped up production to satisfy strong consumer 

demand across the board in all our products and 

categories, particularly in the 3rd quarter. 

Many of our brands are household names and we 

sought to keep shelves stocked with Bigga, WATA, 

CranWATA, Coca-Cola, and products in our snacks 

and ice-cream categories. Our new distribution cen-

tre in Trelawny opened up and improved the avail-

ability of our products in the North West of the island. 

The numbers tell the story. In financial year 

ended 2022, Wisynco delivered a bumper year on 

the back of an incredible uplift in demand, grow-

ing revenue by 22.7% to $39 billion up from $31.8 

billion in the prior year. Our Gross Profit for the year 
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was $13.3 billion which was $2.1 billion 

or 19.1% greater than the prior year 

and Net Profit jumped by 32% to $4.05 

billion. 

Exports remain a pillar of growth 

and we are beyond excited to report 

that, in the year under review, we sur-

passed J$1bn which represents a 71% 

increase over the prior year. We saw 

phenomenal growth in some of our key 

markets and there is still vast untapped 

potential in the main markets of the 

United States, United Kingdom and 

other parts of Europe.

INVESTING AHEAD 

We are now an even stronger 

business with a solid foundation for 

the future and we are investing ahead 

for growth. To capture burgeoning 

opportunities in both local and export 

markets Wisynco is embarking on 

the highest capital investment in our 

history with J$5bn going towards new 

equipment, buildings, ERP systems, 

and plant operations in the new finan-

cial year. Some funds are earmarked for 

an entirely new business, but we are 

also hungry for acquisitions and always 

seeking opportunities that have syn-

ergy with our business and meet our 

commitment to provide great quality 

at competitive prices. 

The most important investment 

that we can make is in our people and 

we are delighted that we are focusing 

heavily on our employees and building 

team engagement. It is no secret that 

the social isolation brought by the 

pandemic took a mental toll on many 

people, and we are concentrating on 

employee motivation with health and 

well-being as top priorities. We know 

that an engaged workforce delivers 

greater innovation and better perfor-

mance, and we aim to create an envi-

ronment where people love coming to 

work.

To complement the wellness ini-

tiatives, we revitalized a programme 

called TRAC to provide further learning 

to employees in the areas of English 

and Mathematics. This demonstrates 

belief in our talent as it empowers 

employees and gives them access to 

greater self-esteem and expanded 

opportunities for growth and develop-

CHAIRMAN AND CEO’S REPORT

ment within the organization. 

IGNITING OUR FUTURE 

Jamaica has risen above the pan-

demic to stand tall as we mark 60 years 

of independence. In celebrating our 

57th year of existence, we at Wisynco 

strive to emulate Jamaica’s example 

of having phenomenal reach on the 

global stage. As proud Jamaicans, we 

are encouraged by the recovery in all 

sectors of the economy, and we are 

committed to giving back to our coun-

try and people. 

Looking ahead to the 2023 financial 

year, we will pursue the consistent de-

livery of our strategy, invest sustainably 

in prime opportunities to maximise 

shareholder value, and develop the tal-

ent of our people. In closing, we thank 

our dedicated Wisynco team, our Board 

of directors, and our Executive team 

for their inspiring leadership. Finally, 

our deepest gratitude goes to you our 

loyal customers and our shareholders 

who continue to believe in us. We are 

igniting our future!
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During the 2022 financial year, Jamaica continued 

to face a plethora of challenges including the 

ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, inflationary pressures 

driven by global supply chain issues, and conflict in 

Ukraine that impacted international financial markets 

and created logistical challenges. The Wisynco Board of 

Directors is delighted that the business effectively re-

sponded with remarkable agility to deliver a strong set 

of financial results and secure a solid base for further 

growth. 

We Applaud

We applaud the Executive team, senior leadership, 

management, and staff for their unwavering commit-

ment and dedication. These results are because of your 

efforts.

Although the unstable environment of the last two 

years tested our mettle, we are proud of our ability 

to work together as a united Board, demonstrating 

our ability to provide expert guidance and maintain a 

steady hand in steering Wisynco to become stronger 

and more resilient. We are privileged to support the 

growth of this iconic Jamaican company blessed with 

exceptionally talented people.

With four independent and four executive members 

at the table, we effectively guided the Company in 

exploring areas of opportunity, ensuring fiscal pru-

dence, and providing leadership to support profitable 

operations. We believe that our success as a Board is 

linked to harnessing the strength of our diversity and 

being inclusive. All voices at the table matter and we 

have a highly engaged team that strives to bring the 

best ideas forward.

An essential component of our Board governance 

requires us to have succession plans to guarantee the 

continuity of strong leadership. We, therefore, expend 

considerable care in finding the best leaders with the 

right values to take the Company forward. During 

2022, we were delighted to appoint Sean Scott as 

Deputy CEO. 

We also appointed a new Head of HR and created a 

more robust HR team. Machines matter but we know 

that people matter more. Wisynco’s success hinges 

upon a winning talent strategy, particularly in a com-

petitive labour market with significant talent move-

ment across industries.

Retaining talent is linked to engagement and the 

Board pays close attention to the results of Staff Satis-

faction Surveys. Having access to non-executive staff 

views is invaluable and we fully endorse this exercise. 

Equally important is setting expectations and showing 

progress as we act upon the feedback provided. 

We Celebrate

As we celebrate Jamaica’s 60th year of indepen-

dence, Wisynco is immensely proud to be part of the 

fabric of Jamaican society in so many areas including 

manufacturing and distribution, brands, agro-process-

ing, community efforts, and contribution to safeguard-

ing the environment. The last 57 years of Wisynco’s 

history have been simply phenomenal and we look 

forward to growing alongside Jamaica, taking the best 

of our country to the world, and pouring back into the 

nation and our people. 

In closing, we extend our sincere appreciation to all 

our shareholders, customers, suppliers, business part-

ners, financial institutions, public and private agencies 

who serve our needs, and all groups of stakeholders 

for your trust and continued support.  We look forward 

to another exciting year of creating value.  

MESSAGE FROM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

William Mahfood 
Chairman

William Mahfood was appointed Chairman of the 

Board in 2014. He holds a B.Sc. in Industrial Engineer-

ing & Management Information Systems from North 

Eastern University.

He started his career with Wisynco Trading Limited 

as Warehouse Supervisor back in 1988. He then 

moved to Wisynco Group Limited where he served 

as Co-Director, Managing Director and Director for 

Wisynco Group. 

William has served on many Boards during his 

career. This includes serving as President of the Private 

Sector Organization of Jamaica (PSOJ) for two years 

and serving as a Director of United Estates, Trade 

Winds Citrus Limited and JN Group Limited.

Andrew Mahfood  
Chief Executive Officer

Andrew Mahfood is the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

of Wisynco Group Limited.  Andrew worked at PriceWater-

house North York, Ontario Canada for 3 years before mov-

ing to Wisynco Trading Limited as the Financial Controller in 

1991. He then went on to become Group Finance Director 

for 6 years before being appointed CEO.

He is a Chartered Accountant and member of the Char-

tered Professional Accountant (CPA) Association in Ontario, 

Canada. He graduated from Boston College with a B.Sc. in 

Finance, Economics and Computer Science. 

Andrew serves on the Boards of Wisynco Group Limited, 

Convenient Brands Limited, Food for the Poor Jamaica, 

Trade Winds Citrus Limited, United Estates Limited and 

Seville Development Corp.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

François Chalifour 
Director of Marketing & Development

Currently the Director of Marketing & Develop-

ment of Wisynco Group Limited, Francois began his 

career in Montreal Canada during the early 1990s as 

an auditor for Richter, Usher & Vineberg; and subse-

quently as Financial Controller at Bariatrix Interna-

tional. He moved to Jamaica to work with The Jamaica 

Drink Company Limited where he served as Managing 

Director for 8 years. As Jamaica Drink was amal-

gamated into The Wisynco Group Limited, Francois 

continued his role overseeing manufacturing of the 

Company’s beverage brands. In 2012, he took on the 

role of Director of Marketing and Development for the 

entire Group.

François has a degree in Administrative and 

Commercial Studies from the University of Western 

Ontario, and a degree in Accounting from the Univer-

sity of Laval, Canada. He is a member of the Chartered 

Professional Accountant (CPA) Association of Quebec.

François serves on the Boards of Recycling Partners 

of Jamaica, Wisynco Group Limited, Convenient 

Brands Limited, Gallagher, United Estates Limited and 

Trade Winds Citrus Limited.

Andrew Fowles
Group Company Secretary

Andrew worked at PriceWaterhouse as a 

Group Manager and at Jamaica Broilers as Project 

Co-ordinator, before joining West Indies Synthet-

ics in 1987 as Financial Director. He left in 1995 

to set up his own consulting practice, and now 

serves a wide range of corporate clients through-

out Jamaica.

Andrew is a member of the Institute of Char-

tered Accountants in both Scotland and Jamaica.

He was appointed Group Company Secre-

tary in 2005 and sits on the Boards of Seville 

Development Corporation Limited and Xsomo 

International Limited. 



292022 WISYNCO ANNUAL REPORT 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Odetta Rockhead-Kerr
Non-Executive Director

Odetta has over 20 years of experience in the outsourcing 

(BPO), technology and transformation space. She spent most 

of her career as a senior executive after being promoted to 

the position of Vice President at age 25 in a US Fortune 500 

Multi-National. 

Odetta is the Founder/CEO of GOFFAH Global, an e-Com-

merce platform, and of Vanquish Consultancy, both of which 

were launched following her impactful leadership within 

Sutherland Jamaica where she enabled record breaking 

success in her capacity as Country Head and Vice President. 

Prior to this, she was a senior global leader at Xerox, where 

not only was she the first non-expatriate and one of the first 

females to assume a role at this level, but she was also the 

first Vice President outside of North America. 

Odetta is qualified at the graduate level in Business with 

focus on Management and Marketing. 

Odetta is a member of the Company’s Audit & Risk, and 

Compensation & Corporate Governance Committees.  

Devon H. Reynolds 
Director of Manufacturing

Devon Hugh Reynolds has served as Maintenance Manag-

er, Assistant Plant Manager, Plant Manager, General Manager, 

Managing Director and now Director of Manufacturing. Devon 

has been with the Company for 36 years, a Director for over 25 

years, of which he has been the Director of Manufacturing for 

over 10 years.

Prior to working at the Wisynco Group, Devon started his 

work experience as a Maintenance Engineer at Thermo-Plastics 

Jamaica Limited, where he became a supervisor. He went on 

to the Plastic Corporation of Jamaica as a production factory 

foreman and was later promoted to Plant Manager. He returned 

to Thermo-Plastics as the Production Manager.

Devon has a Diploma in Electrical and Electronics Engineer-

ing from UTECH (formerly the College of Arts, Science & Tech-

nology), and received certification and training in Supervisory 

Management, Injection Moulding, Production Management, 

Industrial Relations, Flexible Packaging and Advanced Executive 

Management Development.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

John Lee
Non-Executive Director

John Lee is a Director of 138 Student Living, having 

conceptualised and implemented the idea in 2013 of 

‘on campus’ student housing.

Up to retirement in 2013, John was a Director/Part-

ner in PricewaterhouseCoopers Tax and Advisory Ser-

vices Limited, with 35 years of accounting and business 

experience obtained through corporate and project 

finance, insolvency and business turnaround, litigation 

support and auditing assignments in local and interna-

tional capital markets.

John holds a M.Sc. in Finance and is a retired mem-

ber of the Association of  Chartered Certified Accoun-

tants (“ACCA”).

John is the Chairman of the Company’s Audit & Risk 

and a member of the Compensation & Corporate Gov-

ernance Committees.

Adam Stewart
Non-Executive Director

Adam is the Deputy Chairman and Chief Exec-

utive Officer of Sandals Resorts International, one 

of the world’s leading resort companies; and the 

ATL Group, Jamaica’s longest standing automotive 

and appliance distributors with recently expanded 

region-wide operations. 

In 2016, Adam received the Order of Distinction 

(Commander Class) for outstanding contribution 

to tourism and the hotel industry. He has been 

chosen to lead the Tourism Linkages Committee in 

the capacity of Chairman and currently holds the 

post of First Vice-President for the Jamaica Hotel 

and Tourist Association.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Lisa Soares Lewis
Non-Executive Director

Lisa is the Founder/CEO of Great People Solutions, which was created 

following her Human Resources Director roles at DIAGEO Jamaica (Red 

Stripe) and North Latin America and the Caribbean. Her career has 

spanned 20+ years across a range of local and global businesses in 

banking, telecoms, and FMCG. Her roles covered general management 

consulting, end-to-end human resource management, corporate and 

commercial banking and corporate governance. 

Lisa is trained in performance diagnostics and breakthrough per-

formance coaching. She has undertaken and held leadership roles in 

global transformational projects and is known for delivering compelling 

results. She has a B.Sc. in Industrial Engineering and an MBA in Finance 

and Marketing from UWI; and has held the Professional in Human Re-

sources and Senior Professional in Human Resources designation.

Lisa chairs the Compensation & Corporate Governance Committee 

and is a member of the Audit and Risk Committee.

Although 

the unstable 

environment of 

the last two years 

tested our mettle, 

we are proud 

of our ability to 

work together as 

a united Board, 

demonstrating our 

ability to provide 

expert guidance 

and maintain a 

steady hand in 

steering Wisynco 

to become 

stronger and 

more resilient. 

We are privileged 

to support the 

growth of this 

iconic Jamaican 

company blessed 

with exceptionally 

talented people.
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Halcott Holness
Head of Sales

Halcott was appointed Head of Sales 

in 2007. He has experience in manag-

ing large distribution/sales divisions 

and implementing automated sales/

distribution systems.

He was a Production Supervisor at 

Dairy Industries Limited and was also 

an Assistant Sales Manager at Gator 

Ltd, Business Manager at Walisa T&T 

Limited, and Sales & Marketing Export 

Manager at Wisynco Group Limited. He 

went on to become the National Sales 

Manager of the Wisynco Group.

Halcott has a master’s degree in 

Business Administration from Nova 

Southeastern University and a B.Sc. in 

Management studies from the Univer-

sity of the West Indies, Mona.

William Mahfood
Chairman 

Andrew Mahfood
Chief Executive Officer 

François Chalifour
Director of Marketing & Development 

Devon H. Reynolds
Director of Manufacturing

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM

Tabitha Athey
General Manager, Full Service Model (FSM)

Tabitha Athey currently heads the 

sales transformation and distribution 

project as a member of Wisynco’s Ex-

ecutive Management Committee. With 

over 15 years of experience in sales, 

marketing, business operations, man-

agement, and business development, 

she previously worked at VIP Attractions 

as Chief Executive Officer, Ritz Carlton 

Hotel Company, and Sysco Foods. 

Tabitha holds an MBA from Hult 

International Business School and a 

BSBA in International Business from the 

University of Nebraska.

N. Craig Clare
Head of Operations

Currently the Head of Operations, 

Craig has served the Wisynco Group 

Limited in manufacturing as the Assis-

tant to the Director of Manufacturing 

and Group Engineer since 2012.  Prior 

to his stay at Wisynco, Craig’s occu-

pation was in construction project 

management.

He has a Bachelor of Engineering 

(Civil) from McGill University in Mon-

treal, Canada, and a Master of Business 

Administration from Tias Nimbas in 

Utrecht, Netherlands. Craig is also 

currently certified and registered as 

a Professional Engineer at the Profes-

sional Engineering Registration Board 

(PERB) in Jamaica. 

Christopher Ramdon
Chief Information Officer

Christopher Ramdon currently 

serves as the Chief Information Officer 

at Wisynco Group Limited where he 

oversees all hardware and software, 

telecom and systems infrastructure. 

He has a B.Sc. in Electronics and 

Physics from the University of the West 

Indies and a Master of Business Ad-

ministration in Finance and Operations 

with emphasis in Brand Management, 

from the Vanderbilt University’s Owen 

Graduate School of Management. His 

areas of expertise also include Project 

Management and Business Process 

Improvement, ERP implementation, 

Strategic Planning and execution and 

IT Security Policy implementation.
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Jacinth Bennett
Group Financial Controller

JJacinth became the Group Financial 

Controller of Wisynco Group Limited in 

August 2006. 

Her career started as an Input Clerk/

Teller at NCB.  She served as a Cost Ac-

countant at Caribbean Casting Limited, 

Senior Accountant at Pricewaterhouse-

Coopers, Financial Controller at Partner 

Foods Limited and then at Sugar Com-

pany of Jamaica before assuming her 

current role at Wisynco Group Limited.

Jacinth, a qualified ACCA, sits on the 

Boards of Convenient Brands Limited 

and the Greendale Early Childhood 

Development Centre.

Kisha-Ann Brown 
Group Head of Human Resources

Kisha-Ann’s career spans over 

twenty-four (24) years in the FMCG 

sector. As a graduate of the University of 

West Indies, Kisha-Ann is a well-round-

ed business leader with over 15 years’ 

experience in Learning and Develop-

ment, Talent Management, Project and 

Change Management. She has honed 

these skills through challenging roles 

across several disciplines, leading mul-

tiple complex projects in multinational 

business environments and completing 

international assignments in countries 

such as Kenya, Nigeria and Uganda.

Her early years were spent building 

her skills in Manufacturing and Supply 

Chain where she held roles in Production, 

Quality Assurance , Process Improve-

ment, and Training and Development be-

fore making her mark as an HR generalist. 

Her career has taken her to both Diageo 

and Heineken where she held multiple 

successive roles in Operations and HR. 

More recently she has worked as HR Busi-

ness Partner for Campari and Head of HR 

for Carreras Limited.

Leilani Hunt
Corporate Finance & Risk Officer

Leilani joined Wisynco Group Lim-

ited in 2017 as Chief Internal Auditor. 

In that role, she reported directly 

to the Audit & Risk Committee, and 

successfully established the Company’s 

internal audit function. Leilani currently 

serves as the Corporate Finance & Risk 

Officer, and is responsible for risk man-

agement, long-term financial planning 

& analysis, capital transactions, and 

other strategic finance-related projects.  

Leilani began her career in Atlanta 

GA, working at Wells Fargo Financial 

and Ernst & Young, followed by a 7-year 

tenure at PricewaterhouseCoopers in 

Switzerland. She is a Certified Public 

Accountant and holds a B.Sc. in Ac-

counting from Oglethorpe University 

and a B.A. degree in Spanish from the 

University of Virginia.

Vanessa Young
In-House Counsel and  

Assistant Corporate Secretary

Vanessa joined Wisynco in May, 2021 

in the position of In-House Counsel and 

Assistant Corporate Secretary reporting 

to the CEO, Andrew Mahfood. 

She is responsible for develop-

ing and implementing processes to 

promote and sustain good corporate 

governance and ensuring that the 

Company complies with relevant 

legislations and regulations, as well as 

provide counsel, guidance and support 

on legal matters.  

Vanessa is a qualified Attor-

ney-at-Law and was called to the Bar 

in Jamaica, holding a Bachelor of Laws 

(LLB) (Hons) degree from the Univer-

sity of the West Indies as well as the 

Certificate of Legal Education from the 

Norman Manley Law School. Prior to 

joining the team, Vanessa practiced at 

two reputable private commercial law 

firms. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

To view Wisynco’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, please visit  

www.wisynco.com under the “Corporate” tab, select “Investor Relations”.

The Board

The Board of Directors (“the Board” or “the Directors”) 

of Wisynco Group Limited (“Wisynco” or “the Company”) is 

tasked with creating and improving shareholder value, in-

cluding the responsibility to create strategic objectives and to 

develop and monitor the frameworks that will guide the Com-

pany towards achieving these objectives. The Board monitors 

and evaluates financial reporting and facilitates the moni-

toring of operations that have the potential to impact profit 

trends. Board meetings also address the goals and strategies 

for the operations, significant acquisitions and investments, as 

well as matters relating to the capital structure. 

Senior executives report business plans and strategic 

issues to the Board on an ongoing basis. The Board, with the 

assistance of its Audit & Risk and Compensation & Corporate 

Governance Committees, is continuously reviewing and 

developing internal policies and guidance to ensure that 

the Company is following both local and international best 

practices. 

BOARD PROCEEDINGS DURING THE YEAR

During the Financial Year, five (5) Meetings were held. The 

Board addressed key strategic issues related to opportunities 

within new markets, diversification within current markets 

and key environmental issues. The executive management 

of all business areas presented their goals and strategies for 

the year ending June 2022. The Board also addressed matters 

related to human resources, such as environment, health and 

safety, and issues concerning investments and the review of 

previously made investments, as well as future acquisitions 

and divestments and capital projects.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

At June 30, 2022 the Board comprised eight (8) Directors, 

of which four (4) are Executive Directors (including the Chair-

man and CEO) and four (4) are Non-Executive, Independent 

Directors. 

A person who is independent of the Company is some-

one who is free of any interest, position, association or 

relationship and who is not an employee of the Company or 

any affiliated entity. Such a person should 

(a) not be a recent employee of the Company (within the 

preceding three (3) years; 

(b) not be a close family member of any non-independent 

Director or senior executive of the Company; 

(c) not have directly or indirectly had a material commer-

cial or business relationship with the Company within 

the preceding three (3) years; or

(d) not be employed or serve as a senior executive of any 

other company where any of the Company’s other 

Directors or senior executives serve or are employed. 

Each Director is obliged to possess and maintain a diversi-

ty of skill and expert knowledge in the execution of their 

responsibilities. Additionally, each Director must bring on a 

continuing basis sound judgement to the Board and effec-

tively contribute to all matters considered. All Directors of 

the Company understand and act in accordance with their 

fiduciary duties and are equally responsible and accountable 

for proper and effective management of the Company. 

Each year, at the Company’s Annual General Meeting, one 

third of the Company’s Directors shall retire by rotation in ac-

cordance with the Company’s Articles of Incorporation and if 

eligible shall offer themselves for re-election. 

Board members are as follows and their attendance Board 

Meetings was as follows:

Board meeting Attendance

William Mahfood, Executive Chairman  5/5

Andrew Mahfood, CEO 5/5

John Lee, Independent & Non-executive Director 5/5

Lisa Soares Lewis,  

Independent & Non-executive Director 5/5

Adam Stewart, Independent & Non-executive Director 4/5

Odetta Rockhead-Kerr,  

Independent & Non-executive Director 5/5

Francois Chalifour, Executive Director  5/5

Devon Reynolds, Executive Director 5/5
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board Sub-Committees

There are two (2) sub-committees of the Board, being the Audit & Risk Committee and the Compensation and Corporate 

Governance Committee. These Committees are comprised of a mix of Independent, Non-Executive and Executive Directors 

who meet to discuss and review the key matters that fall within the scope of their responsibilities. 

Each sub-committee has its own Charter which can be accessed at www.wisynco.com through the Investor Relations tab. 

These responsibilities of each Committee are discussed in greater detail below.

The Audit & Risk Committee Report

The Audit & Risk Committee (the “Committee”) is estab-

lished for the primary purpose of assisting the Board of 

Directors (the “Board”) in the oversight of Wisynco Group 

Limited as it relates to the following: 

• Financial reporting and internal controls;  

• internal and external audit functions, including  

ensuring the external auditors are qualified and  

independent;  

• compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; 

• enterprise-wide risk management practices. 

In summary, the responsibilities of the Audit & Risk  

Committee include: 

i. Financial Reporting: overseeing the integrity of the 

Company’s financial statements and other documents 

relating to the Company’s financial performance and 

overseeing the adequacy of the Company’s internal 

controls, related party transactions, statutory and 

regulatory filing compliance.

ii. External Auditors: reviewing the annual appointment 

of the external auditor and recommending subse-

quent approval by the Board, overseeing and review-

ing the services the external auditor is to provide to 

the Company, as well as monitoring their indepen-

dence, objectivity, effectiveness, and fees.

iii. Internal Audit: reviewing and approving the Compa-

ny’s annual Internal Audit plan, assessing the effec-

tiveness of the Internal Audit department, monitoring 

recommendations for improvements and implementa-

tion thereof, and guiding the resolution of any matters 

raised in relation to internal audit.

iv. Risk Management: assessing the Company’s enter-

prise-wide risk exposure, overseeing the risk manage-

ment strategy to assess and mitigate risk, and moni-

toring that risks are mitigated to an acceptable level 

through internal controls or other strategies.

v. Protected Disclosures, whistleblowing and fraud: re-

viewing the Company’s procedures for detecting fraud 

as well as Company procedures by which employees 

and contractors may, in confidence, raise concerns 

about improprieties in matters of financial reporting or 

other matters. The Committee ensures that these pro-

cedures allow proportionate, independent and when 

necessary, confidential investigation of such matters 

and appropriate follow-up action.

The Chairman was appointed by the Board to guide the 

Audit & Risk Committee based on his extensive experience 

and knowledge of Finance, Accounting, Audit and Risk 

matters.  

 

The Audit & Risk Committee is comprised of three (3) inde-

pendent, non-executive directors and two executive mem-

bers of the Board, being the CEO and Chairman, bringing the 

John Lee
Chairman of the Audit 

& Risk Committee
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Committee’s total membership to five (5) Directors. 

The Committee meets at least four (4) times per year to 

coincide with key events or dates in the Company’s finan-

cial reporting calendar, and also meets to review and make 

recommendations to the Board regarding appropriateness 

of internal policies and adequacy of internal audit plans and 

risk management systems. 

The Committee agrees on an annual schedule of meet-

ings and the principal items to be discussed at these meet-

ings. Committee members and their attendance at Commit-

tee Meetings was as follows:

For the financial year ended 2022, the Committee con-

ducted its annual review and approval of the Company’s 

enterprise-wide risk profile and internal audit plan.

In addition, the following policies were reviewed by the 

Committee in the FY22 financial year:-

3 Audit & Risk Committee Charter

3 Fraud Reporting Policy (internal policy)

3 Protected Disclosures/Whistleblower Policy

3 Enterprise Risk Management Policy (internal policy)

3 Delegation of Authority Policy (internal policy)

The following policies are available to the public:

3 Audit & Risk Committee Charter

3 Protected Disclosures/Whistleblower Policy 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Attendance Report

John Lee, Chairman,  

Independent non-executive director 6/6

William Mahfood, Member, Executive director 6/6

Andrew Mahfood, Member, Executive director 6/6

Lisa Soares Lewis 

Member, Independent non-executive director 6/6

Odetta Rockhead-Kerr  

Member, Independent non-executive director 6/6

Please visit www.wisynco.com and click on the Investor Relations tab. 

Compensation & Corporate  
Governance Committee Report

Lisa Soares Lewis
Chairman of the Compensation 

and Corporate Governance 

Committee

The Compensation and Corporate Governance Com-

mittee is established for the primary purpose of providing 

oversight of the Board of Directors’ (“the Board”) governance 

role as it relates to the following:-

• reviewing corporate strategies;

• shaping the Company’s culture;

• promulgating the Company’s vision, values and core 

beliefs;

       and ensuring that: -

• Board composition, structure, policies and processes 

meet all relevant legal and regulatory requirements; 

and 

• the Company operates at a high standard of corporate 

governance, ethical behavior and corporate social 

responsibility. 

In summary, the responsibilities of the Compensation & 

Corporate Governance Committee include: -

i. Reviewing & approving Compensation of Non-Execu-

tive Directors;

ii. Annually reviewing the remuneration policies for 

Chairman, CEO and Executive Mmebers, including 

material benefits;

iii. Reviewing of the organization structure and succes-

sion plan;

iv. Conducting annual evaluations for the CEO, Board and 
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all Board sub-committees and reviewing the Board 

composition to maintain and efficient balance of skills, 

attendance, and capabilities;

v. Overseeing continuous Board education and training 

which includes relevant changes to regulations, laws 

or other guidance that pertain to the business of the 

Company;

vi. Identifying and making recommendations to the 

Board regarding Board membership, appointment and 

composition;

vii. reviewing and developing the Company’s corporate 

governance code, sub-committee charters, internal 

policies and governance guidance on an ongoing 

basis;

viii. ensuring that the Company is following best practices 

at both an industry and a commercial level, in the con-

text of environmental, social and governance frame-

work;

ix. Reviewing of the systems and processes, by which the 

operations of the Company are directed; and

x. Reviewing the policies, practices and decisions of the 

Company, and their effects on its stakeholders. 

The Chairman is appointed by the Board to guide the 

Compensation & Corporate Governance Committee based 

on her extensive experience and knowledge of Corporate 

Governance and matters regarding corporate remuneration 

policies and strategies. 

The Compensation & Corporate Governance Commit-

tee is comprised of three (3) independent, non-executive 

directors who form the majority of the Compensation and 

Corporate Governance Committee, and two (2) executive 

members of the Board being the CEO and Chairman, bring-

ing the Committee’s total membership to five (5) Directors.

The Committee meets at least two times (2) per year to 

coincide with key events including remuneration review 

cycles but also meetings to facilitate Board evaluation exer-

cising or training sessions conducted for the benefit of the 

Company’s Board and/or executive management team. 

The Committee agrees on an annual schedule of meet-

ings and the principal items to be discussed at these 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Please visit www.wisynco.com and click on the Investor Relations tab. 

meetings. Committee members and their attendance at the 

Committee Meetings was as follows:

Attendance Report

Lisa Soares Lewis, Chairman,  

Independent non-executive director 3/3

William Mahfood, Member, Executive director 3/3

Andrew Mahfood, Member, Executive director 3/3

John Lee, Member. Non-executive director 3/3

Odetta Rockhead-Kerr  

Member, Independent Non-executive director 3/3

For the financial year ended 2022, the Committee imple-

mented or conducted its annual review and recommended 

approval to the Board of the following policies: -

i. Corporate Social Responsibility Policy/Corporate Sus-

tainability Policy;

ii. Dividend Policy;

iii. Environmental Policy;

iv. Information Disclosure Policy

v. Contracts Policy;

vi. Code of Ethics;

vii. Drug & Alcohol Policy;

viii. Succession Management Policy;

ix. Total Rewards Policy.

The following policies are available to the public:

3 Compensation & Corporate Governance Committee 

Charter

3 Code of Ethics

3 Corporate Social Responsibility

3 Corporate Governance Policy

3 Dividend Policy

3 Securities Trading Policy
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Name of Shareholder Units % Ownership

1. Wisynco Group Caribbean Limited 2,776,183,736 73.9084%

2.  ATL Group Pension Fund Trustees Nom Ltd. 58,408,056 1.5550%

3.  GraceKennedy Pension Fund Custodian Ltd.  32,922,285 0.8765%

4.  SJIML A/C 3119 31,329,914 0.8341%

5.  Sagicor Select Fund Ltd. (‘Class C’ Shares) 

 Manufacturing & Distribution  30,964,303 0.8243%

6.  Guardian Life Limited  29,341,646 0.7811%

7. National Insurance Fund 28,571,979 0.7607%

8. Devon Reynolds 28,123,827 0.7487%

9. Francois Chalifour 26,355,295 0.7016%

10. Sagicor Pooled Equity Fund 25,913,562 0.6899%

Directors Direct Connected Parties  Total 

* William Mahfood 1,596,431 2,781,183,324 2,782,779,755

* Andrew Mahfood 727,763 2,780,739,959 2,781,467,722

Francois Chalifour 26,355,295 4,476,223 30,831,518

Devon H. Reynolds 28,123,827 0 28,123,827

John Lee 0 5,546,491 5,546,491

Lisa Soares Lewis 3,167,600 0 3,167,600

Adam Stewart 0 1,938,936 1,938,936

Odetta Rockhead Kerr  113,715 0 113,715

Senior Executives Direct Connected Parties  Total 

Andrew Fowles 2,225,300 0 2,225,300 

Christopher Ramdon 2,202,383 0 2,202,383 

Halcott Holness  2,595,333 0 2,595,333 

Jacinth Bennett  1,369,249 0 1,369,249 

Tabitha Athey 923,420 0 923,420 

N. Craig Clare  878,318 0 878,318 

Leilani Hunt   995,059 0 995,059 

Vanessa Young 3,000 0 3,000 

These Directors have a beneficial holdings in Wisynco Group Caribbean Limited, which owns 

73.9084% of Wisynco Group Limited in addition to other connected party holdings.

Top 10 Shareholders

Shareholdings of Directors

Shareholdings of Senior Executives

Wisynco Group Limited as at June 30 2022

as at June 30 2022

as at June 30 2022
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As Jamaica commemorates its diamond 

jubilee in 2022, Wisynco celebrates 57 

years of existence. We have had solid 

leadership throughout almost six decades 

and have grown in tandem with the country 

to a very strong position. It is a testament 

to our relentless quest for more that, as a 

company, we have never set a limit on our 

growth. Neither do we measure ourselves 
by the competition. Instead, we are fuelled 

by remarkable passion to keep on winning 

through our entrepreneurial spirit, a deep 

forte in manufacturing and the enduring 

values enshrined in the Wisynco Way.

Ongoing volatility that prevailed at home and abroad, 

Wisynco Group Limited rose above the challenges to grow 

the business and deliver one of our best performances on 

record with increased revenue, higher gross profit, and 

soaring exports.

We share these outstanding results with immense pride 

and gratitude to our dedicated employees who worked 

tirelessly throughout the year to satisfy our customers. We 

also thank our executive management team and our board 

of directors who continued to navigate the way forward 

with expert strategic guidance while continuously setting 

the bar higher. 

The Quest 
for More People First 

In recognizing that business success 

is reliant on a people-first approach, our 

primary objective in 2022 was to focus on 

the engagement of our team, ensuring 

their well-being in mind, body and spirit 

while providing opportunities for edu-

cational development. Previously imple-

mented measures such as remote working 

and COVID-19 mandatory safety protocols 

remained in place as we sought to ensure 

the health and safety of employees and 

customers while Jamaica gradually eased 

restrictions. 

We partnered with senior leadership 

to inspire our teams and shore up their 

capability to meet the ongoing demands 

of the business in a sustainable way. We 

introduced several initiatives, including a 

J$8m fund specifically for employees to 

pay university, high and primary school-re-

lated fees for their children/dependents.. 

This is in tandem with Wisynco’s education 

fund for the public, sponsored through 

our special Jamaica 60 commemorative 

label on WATA. Additionally, we invested in 

improved canteen facilities with enhanced 

meal options, a new gym, a health expo, 

and sporting activities including football. 

With the return to normalcy, we will 

continue to invest in our Wisynco family 

through education and growth oppor-

tunities, competitive remuneration and 

benefits, and by continuing our culture of 

staging engaging events to celebrate our 

employees and revel in the joyful spirit that 

makes Wisynco a great place to work. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
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Despite ongoing lockdowns, Wisynco burst from the 

blocks with a flying start in the first quarter thanks to a no-

ticeable uptick in demand driven by a rebound in economic 

activities. The relaxation of travel and reopening of the tour-

ism sector, coupled with the resumption of restaurant dining 

and face-to-face classes contributed to increased movement 

throughout the society and fuelled growth in consumption. 

Wisynco experienced revenue growth of 14% in Q1 

and 19% in Q2. With further opening of the economy, this 

phenomenal trajectory of demand carried through into Q4 

where we grew 30% over the previous year. This growth was 

across the board in every category, especially in core brands 

including WATA, BIGGA, and Cran WATA. There was also great 

demand for the Tru-juice range of juices, chips, including 

Pringles, and all our ice creams. 

Agile and Responsive 

Ramp up production: 

To maintain a steady supply 

of WATA, one of our fast-

est-growing categories, we 

restarted an old production 

line at White Marl and almost 

doubled volume from the 

previous year.

Agile supply chain:

We navigated the global supply chain issues that plagued the 

consumer products industry and took strategic pricing action to 

offset rising costs while remaining competitive. We managed our 

procurement schedule, increased inventory, and doubled ship-

ments where necessary. Congestion of containers later became an issue, leading to 

some key raw materials being delayed. The most difficult challenge was securing 

Co2 which required specialized containers. Ultimately, we found ways to mitigate 

against this and formed strategic partnerships to ensure continuity of supply.

Improve in-market execution: 

With the goal of getting our products 

into consumers’ hands, we invested heav-

ily in trucks and operational equipment 

and purchased 2,000 beverage coolers to 

improve in-market execution excellence. 

This extended our reach and worked in 

harmony with higher production levels.  

Leverage new facility: 

Opening a 26,000 square 

feet distribution facility in 

Trelawny gave us a wider foot-

print across the western end 

of the island which in return 

boosted the availability of our 

products and improved our 

customer service levels. This 

strategic move also increased 

demand and supply for our 

products, making an import-

ant contribution to revenue 

growth. 

Our top priority was restoring service levels to keep pace with market growth while 

exercising fiscal prudence. With this primary objective, we harnessed the collective 
strength of our team across the business to fulfill several strategic priorities: 
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Reduce energy costs: 

Our energy strategy and 

production efficiencies are key 

drivers of gross profit and helped 

to minimise the likelihood 

of consumers having to face 

significant price increases. With 

two-megawatt (MW) liquefied 

natural gas (LNG) power-

generating plants and high 

operating efficiency, we were able 

to drive our profit margin. 

Grow total exports: 

Total export numbers surpassed J$1 billion 

which represented a 71% increase YOY.  We  

started the year strong and by the second  

quarter exports grew by 103 percent. This  

continued throughout the year with the  

main markets in the US, UK and other parts  

of Europe performing exceptionally well. 

The decision to shift UK production to Jamaica 

two years prior has yielded tremendous results. 

We earn more revenue due to lower produc-

tion costs and increased our brand affinity as 

UK consumers are proud that the products are 

manufactured in Jamaica. This year, UK volumes 

surpassed our expectations, and we are certain 

that we are reaching mainstream consumers. 

Similarly in the US we are noting a crossover into 

Latin and other Caribbean consumers.

Invest in Innovation: 

In responding to con-

sumers’ evolving tastes 

and market trends, we 

launched Grape WATA, and 

Tru-Almond which both 

contributed towards reve-

nue. Previously launched 

TruSHAKE performed well 

with peanut and butter 

pecan flavours. We are 

continuing to place, mer-

chandise and position the 

newly launched products 

to boost ongoing sales. 

Drive technological 
efficiency: 
We are implementing a 

new Enterprise Resource 

Planning (ERP) system 

to drive technological 

efficiency and advance our 

initiatives to reduce paper 

and improve both service 

times and service levels. 

MD
&A



44 2022 WISYNCO ANNUAL REPORT 

MD
&A Financial Results

Revenue

Propelled by strong demand 

across all categories, Reve-

nues from operations for the 

year ended June 30, 2022, 

was $39 billion (see Five Year 

Financial Highlights) or 22.7% 

greater than the $31.8 billion 

of the prior year. Revenue 

growth in the final quarter of 

financial year ended 2022 was 

30% when compared to the 

same period in the prior year.

During the final quarter, we 

encountered supply chain 

issues in selected key raw 

materials some of which 

require special transportation 

equipment. This impacted 

production and consequently 

dampened revenue levels.

Gross Profit 
Gross Profit for the year 

was $13.3 billion which 

was $2.1 billion or 19.2% 

greater than the prior year 

whilst our Gross Margin was 

33.9% compared to 34.9% 

for financial year ended 

2021. The reduction in Gross 

Margin, when compared 

to the prior year, is due to 

higher energy costs which, 

resulted from our LNG plant 

experiencing some down-

time, and higher input costs 

on certain raw materials. 

Net Profit 
Profit before Taxation for the year 

was $5.0 billion or 31.3% greater 

than the prior year’s $3.8 billion. Net 

profit after taxes for the year was 

$4.1 billion compared to $3.1 billion 

in the prior year. Our net profit mar-

gin of 10.4% for 2022 was greater 

than the 9.7% realized for 2021 and 

reflected an improvement of 70 

basis points over the prior year. 

Gross Margin 

Our Gross Margin was impacted by 

inflationary pressures on inputs and 

the increase in commodities pricing 

including the cost of oil. Sugar 

prices and shipping rates also rose 

so there was a corresponding im-

pact. Although partially mitigated 

through price increases, we landed 

100 basis points lower than the 

previous year with a Gross Margin 

of 33.9% vs 34.9% in 2021.

Selling, Distribution & 
Administrative Expenses

Selling, Distribution & Administrative ex-

penses for the year totalled $8.5 billion, 

which was 12.8% greater than the $7.6 

billion of the prior year. Expanded busi-

ness activity along with inflation contrib-

uted to the increase in these categories 

of expenses. 

However, with the accelerated revenue 

growth and tightly controlled expenses, 

we saw a noticeable improvement in our 

expense-to-sales ratio for the year from 

23.8% last year to 21.9% in 2022. This im-

provement resulted in the slightly higher 

Net profit margin reported.

$39.0B
$13.3B

$5.0B

33.9% $8.5B
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Dividend payout 

A dividend of 20c per 

share was declared on 

June 27, 2022, and has 

been accrued in our 

financial statements. The 

accrued dividend, along 

with the dividend of 20c 

per share paid on March 

1st, 2022, brings the 

dividend for financial 

year ended 2022 to 40c 

per share, resulting in a 

dividend yield of 2.0% 

(1.9% FY21), based on 

the closing stock price at 

June 30 of the respec-

tive financial years.  

The 40c dividend per 

share for FY22  is 33.3% 

greater than the 30c per 

share for FY21. 

Earnings per share

Earnings per share for 

the year was $1.08 per 

share or 31.7% greater 

than the 82c per share 

for the prior year.

Current Assets

Current Assets increased by 24.2% 

from J$14.2 billion to J$17.8 billion 

due to excess Inventories being 

held to minimize disruptions from 

possible supply chain delays as well 

as approximately $600 million of 

deposits placed for new equipment 

as we move to expand our produc-

tion capacity during financial year 

ending 2023.

Our Current Ratio at 2.4 is in line 

with our prior year, and our return 

on average equity at 25% improved 

by 300 basis points over the 22% of 

financial year ended 2021.. 

Finance Income

Included in Finance costs are 

foreign exchange losses for 

the year of approximately 

$34.7 million which com-

pares to foreign exchange 

gains of $69.5 million rec-

ognized in other operating 

income for the prior year. 

Interest income improved 

over the prior year by ap-

proximately $108 million due 

to higher rates being earned 

on deposits.

$17.8B
$108M

$0.40

$1.08
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Our business has demonstrated its agility and resilience 

while Jamaica heads toward economic recovery. Delivering 

sustainable growth and increasing shareholder value are 

our main objectives for the long term while ensuring the 

engagement of our Wisynco Team. 

Going forward, fulfilling our strategic vision centres on  

leveraging our strong capital base to re-invest in the busi-

ness and seizing attractive opportunities to expand both 

locally and in international markets. This involves:

n   Capital investment in significant expansion plans. We 

are pouring J$5 billion into major projects including 

two new sophisticated production lines, expanding our 

energy generation plant, new buildings for manufactur-

ing, a new ERP system, and positioning the Company to 

enter new channels of business. 

n   Investing in our people. We are launching various 

learning and education initiatives to recruit and train in 

anticipation of greater demand.

n   Growing exports to realize untapped potential. We have 

several initiatives underway and are aligning increased 

production capacity with a greater focus on building 

and leveraging in-market relationships, which will augur 

very well for future growth.

n   Fulfilling our commitment to reducing the environmen-

tal impact of our operations. We aim to do more in mea-

suring our carbon footprint and we are exploring the 

possibility of capturing carbon dioxide outputs for fur-

ther processing. We aspire to a net zero water standard 

where we return the quantity and quality of natural 

water we use to the environment. In line with Jamaica’s 

climate change policy, we will also place increased scru-

tiny on the outcomes and objectives of Recycle Partners 

of Jamaica and make our own targets public so that we 

make our promise visible to all and therefore drive the 

collection of plastic to be recycled. 

MD
&A

Year ended 30 June FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue $24,544,049 $26,939,227 $32,170,426 $31,816,430 $39,045,880

% Change YOY 14.8% 9.8% 19.4% (1.1%) 22.7%

Gross Margin (%) 37.2 37.1 34.4 34.9 33.9

Net Profit After Tax 2,292,925 2,542,165 2,662,667 3,072,300 4,053,683

EBITDA 3,804,507 4,260,465 4,472,670 5,019,790 5,977,391

EBITDA Margin (%) 15.5% 15.8 % 13.9 % 15.8% 15.3%

Net Profit Margin (%) 9.3 % 9.4 % 8.3 % 9.7% 10.4%

Debt: 

Shareholders’ Equity 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 .09

S&D & Admin Expenses to Sales (%) 26.0 26.8 25.3 23.8 21.9

ROE (%) 26.4 22.9 20.5 20.4 22.8

2022 Five-Year Financial Highlights 

Outlook for the Future
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Year ended 30 June FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue          24,544,049           26,939,227           32,170,426        31,816,430 39,045,880

Cost of Sales          (15,421,144)          (16,867,965)           (21,103,363)  (20,700,100) (25,794,948)

     

Gross Profit             9,122,905           10,071,262           11,067,063  11,116,330 13,250,932

Other Operating Income                   92,157                 288,656                 142,654  240,581 151,559

Selling and Distribution Expense            (5,412,601)              (6,124,857)              (6,784,843)  (6,149,378) (7,094,702)

Administration Expenses                (956,683)              (1,097,978)              (1,370,277)  (1,416,660) (1,437,412)

Operating Profit             2,845,778              3,137,083              3,054,597  3,790,873 4,870,377

Finance Income                130,837                 119,218                 320,495  195,534 301,258

Finance Costs               (211,411)                230,205               (155,844) (153,730) (149,059)

Share of results from Associates -                    7,792                         984  (29,722) (28,124)

Profit before Taxation              2,765,204              3,033,888              3,033,888  3,802,955 4,994,452

Taxation               (513,834)              (491,723)              (557,565) (730,655) (940,769)

Profit from Discontinued Operations                  41,555  387157                139,736 - -

Net Profit              2,292,925              2,929,322              2,802,403  3,072,300 4,053,683

Other Comprehensive Income      

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss     

     

Exchange differences on translation 

of foreign subsidiary                  26,853                   (1,038)                    9,765  6,093 (570)

Share of other comprehensive  

income of associate - - 9,322 5,636 18,504

Unrealized (loss)/gain on 

investment securities                    3,728                   10,886                  17,302  11,362 114,701

Total Comprehensive Income              2,323,506             2,939,170              2,838,792  3,095,391 4,186,318

Earnings per Share      

from continuing operations                             0.61                             0.68                             0.71  0.82 1.08

From discontinued operations                             0.01                             0.10                             0.04  - -

Five-Year Financial Analysis 
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Celebrating Jamaica 
We close with humility and tremendous appreciation for 

our employees, customers, and shareholders. As proud 

Jamaicans in all that we do, Wisynco is fully committed to 

consistently creating value and giving back to our country 

and people as a whole. We are confident that the next 60 
years will be tremendous for Wisynco, our people and the 

country. Thank you for being on this ride with us!
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Marketing

Bringing the best of 
Jamaica to the World
Wisynco is the quintessential Jamaican company, from 

our roots as shoe manufacturers to our innovation of 

the original Jamaican soft drink BIGGA to launching 

the first locally crafted energy drink Boom! We are 
proud of our history, heritage, and people, and stride 

confidently into the future. We are Jamaicans. Bringing 
the best of Jamaican manufacturing to the world while 

being mindful of sustainability in all we do. 

We have established ourselves as one of the leading distribution compa-

nies in Jamaica and continue to attract new partners and expand our range 

of offerings. Our ability to understand and respond to consumers through 

relevant innovation, impactful marketing campaigns and a focus on rein-

vesting in communities enables us to stay ahead of the competition. 

The impact of the pandemic catalysed a restructure of our Marketing 

efforts and a shift toward bringing many of our strategies primarily into 

the digital space as we continued to develop and market our extensive 

portfolio of homegrown and imported brands.                        

We continue to expand our portfolio in new and existing categories 

and be the market leader in the bottled water, flavoured water, energy 

drinks, flavoured drinks, and juice categories, with the WATA, CranWATA, 

Boom, BIGGA, and Tru-Juice brands, respectively

WATA 

Our flagship brand, WATA, has 

been hydrating Jamaicans for over 

twenty years since the year 2000 

when Wisynco led the local inno-

vation in that segment. Our sales 

and reach in terms of customers 

and package types have expanded 

exponentially over the years. We con-

tinually invest in the brand to offer 

our consumers more options and 

better experiences. Our iconic brand 

has now become synonymous with 

national fervour as we continue to 

align our marketing efforts with the 

significant moments in Jamaican life.

In July 2021, we continued to 

support our annual Independence 

celebrations with special commem-

orative labels to honour Jamaican 

culture.   For 2022, WATA will con-

tinue to be the brand on everyone’s 

lips, as we take our role as ‘the 

hydration brand of Jamaica’ serious-

ly.  For the island’s 60th anniversary 

celebrations we were designated the 

“Official WATA of Jamaica 60” and  

activated a give-back through 

educational grants to our nation’s 

students and teachers.

WATA continues to support 

sporting activities as an important 

platform for the personal and pro-

fessional development of our youth.  

We maintain a connection to our 

national sporting teams and are the 

hydration sponsor of the male and 

female National Football Teams, the 

National Netball Team, the Jamaica 

Premier League, School Boy Football, 

and the JAAA  as well as multiple 

fitness and community sporting 

activities around Jamaica.     
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Grape WATA Launch

In February 2022, we launched 

Grape WATA, our latest beverage 

innovation.  A multi-media marketing 

campaign was launched in May 2022 

to support the trending brand. There 

is much more to come for the ‘Grape 

Escape”.  

Trade Winds
While there were fewer innova-

tions this year for the new Trade 

Winds Dairy portfolio we conducted 

islandwide sampling and promotion 

of our new TruSHAKE flavours.

MD
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Social media

Capitalizing on the power of social 

media to recruit new consumers and 

increase direct communication and 

engagement, our digital strategy 

encompassed the management of 20 

pages, including Facebook, Instagram, 

Twitter, and YouTube.  Through these 

efforts, the Company has acquired 

over 460,000 fans/ followers, created 

over 127,000 impressions, and en-

gaged 1,400,000 consumers online.

While the pandemic continued to 

restrict face-to-face trade marketing 

activity for much of the financial year, 

we used the extensive reach of social 

media to showcase and promote our 

wide range of food and beverage 

products and partnered with our 

customers to engage consumers.  

This included WATA Celebrate di Win-

nings, WATA Reggae Wave, and WATA 

Wishes in December 2021. 

Our grocery brands launched two 

joint social media trade and consum-

er engagement campaigns called the 

Wish List (Christmas) and 100 days of 

Summer which boosted traffic to our 

IG and Facebook pages by 25%.

As pandemic restrictions lifted, we 

resumed our place as lead brands for 

significant events in local media and 

entertainment events. Major activi-

ties and campaigns included:

• CranWATA sponsorship of the 

Schools Challenge Quiz

• Participation in the Jamaica Rum 

Festival in June 2022

• The Carifta Games hosted by 

Jamaica in March 2022

• Hope Gardens four series Fitness 

Event July- August 2021

• The Social House Reality Series 

sponsored by Boom

• Coca-Cola Twist for Gold October 

2021
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St. Mary’s

The JP Tropical snack portfolio benefit-

ted from greater managerial and marketing 

attention to bolster its trade activations and 

customer engagement. As we emerged from 

the restrictions of the pandemic, a new prod-

uct category, Johnny Crunchers, was launched.  

The brand engaged in above-the-line and 

social media campaigns as well as trade activa-

tions and extensive sampling to introduce the 

products to new consumers. The brand also 

launched a line extension to its Plantain Chip 

line and refreshed the packaging of the entire 

portfolio to meet consumer trends.
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Worthy Park

Our alliance with Worthy Park Es-

tates continues to be an integral part 

of our growing portfolio and yielded 

promising results during the financial 

year. Our exclusive brands, Worthy 

Park and Jamaica Gold dominated 

the sugar category which resulted in 

a 14%  increase in sales over the last 

year and the strengthening of our 

strategic position in this market.  In 

the alcohol category, the May 2022 

introduction of the premium Worthy 

Park Select Rum Cream as well as 

positive outcomes for the Rum Bar 

brand resulted in an increase in sales 

and increased trade and core con-

sumer engagement.

In continuing to 

develop and market an 

extensive and diverse 

portfolio of brands from 

leading food and beverage 

manufacturers in Jamaica 

and across the world, we 

ensure integration at all 

levels with staff, customers 

and consumers. This results 

in the continuous expan-

sion of and opportunities 

for not only beverage 

brands but also our snack, 

ice cream, grocery and 

confectionery portfolio.

Through our locally 

owned and manufac-

tured beverages, Wisynco 

remained relevant by 

executing eight (8) media 

campaigns, two (2) major 

charitable campaigns and 

maintaining twenty-two 

(22) social media pages 

to create awareness and 

engage with consumers.  

To keep our portfolio 

fresh, marketing activities 

included six (6) seasonal 

label changes, one major 

product launch, and the 

line extension of one sig-

nificant beverage brand.  In 

addition, our brands added 

value to consumers by 

gifting over 150,000 bot-

tles of beverages and over 

20,000 premiums at the 

point of purchase via 1,300 

promotions in 1,100 retail 

outlets and street-sam-

pling activities across 

Jamaica. Sponsorships and 

donations provided over 

185,000 bottles of beverag-

es to support the efforts of 

180 organizations.  

Eco Marketing Activities

Our recycling activities have transitioned to engaging with consumers through the 

programmes of Recycling Partners of Jamaica.  This planned transition allows us to 

focus our efforts on education and support for environmental sustainability. We know 

that our stakeholders share our passion for the environment, and we use our social 

media pages strategically to highlight the need for and ease of recycling and environ-

mental awareness. We will continue to engage in community and school eco-activi-

ties to help our consumers to keep recycling top of mind.
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COVID-19’s wrath has touched each 

one of us in some shape or form and 

FY2021-22 was certainly no walk in 

the park as we continued our journey 

of ‘improving the lives of our people” 

despite the spectre of the pandemic.  

We take this opportunity to say special 

thanks to all the hardworking front-line 

workers who never relented despite 

the many obstacles they faced and 

helped us win in the market.

With our thrust of advocating to 

our teams the importance of vacci-

nation, we were elated to see record 

numbers of sales and merchandising 

team members come out to the office 

and support the initiative. A massive 

“BIG UP” to them as they took one ‘in 

the arm’ for the team. Kudos to the HR 

team and volunteers who provided 

unbelievable support, encouragement 

and guidance. 

Despite FY2020-21 showing signs 

of a depressed market, coupled with 

chronic global supply issues, our teams 

still forged ahead and delivered on 

our mantra of “No Brand, No Shelf, No 

Customer or person left behind”. This 

was evident in our remarkable final 

sales numbers and customer contact 

points. We are continuing to roll out 

new systems with our activity-based 

selling initiatives, ensuring we reach 

our customers with the right products 

at the right time.  Implementing new 

systems for efficiencies around routing 

and delivery to all our valued cus-

tomers, helping the team to focus on 

selling, is ongoing.
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Commercial 

Reaching our customers with  
the right products at the right time

With the hospitality sector and some 

schools opening up during the later 

months, we were happy to see sales 

improving on a regular basis, with the 

division registering 66% growth when 

compared with last year. Exports too 

showed major signs of improvement 

and this augurs well for us as we seek 

to capitalize on more opportunities in 

this marketplace.  

The outstanding stewardship of the 

sales leadership must be commended 

as our leaders worked tirelessly to keep 

the teams customer-focused. Overall, 

we delivered excellent results, and we 

are deeply grateful for the continued 

dedication and commitment of our 

outstanding team as we aim even high-

er for FY2022-23. 
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Operations

The financial year 2022 has been 

a year of unpredicted growth for the 

logistics and distribution operations 

of Wisynco with the rebound from the 

COVID-19 pandemic. Wisynco’s oper-

ations have once again adapted and 

thrived in a dynamic economy. These 

year-end results are a testimony to 

Wisynco’s ability to meet any challenge. 

While supply chain issues hindered 

our normal, class-leading, efficiency 

in the supply of finished products, 

operations and manufacturing have 

worked together to implement more 

agile methodologies to match supply 

with demand. Concurrently, we have 

increased our peak capacity while 

reducing overall labour cost per case. 

Our fleet and facilities maintenance 

has also experienced a challenging 

year stemming from supply chain 

issues. Spare parts have seen a sharp 

increase in price coupled with arduous 

lead times for delivery. 

Wisynco’s operations has continued 

to invest in our facilities and support 

infrastructure in the following ways: 

1. We have commissioned our first 

satellite distribution warehouse 

in Trelawny to further our brand 

penetration in rural territories.

2. We are currently implementing 

two IT-based solutions to further 

improve our route optimization 

and delivery performance. 

3. The canteen facility has been up-

graded and expanded by 3,000 

square feet.

4. Investment in a new state-of-the-

art gym open to the group.

Wisynco applauds the contribution 

and sacrifice of the team during the 

pandemic and look forward to contin-

ued growth as the country recovers. 

Manufacturing 

Staying Ahead with Agility and Innovation

The Manufacturing Team remained robust and continued to make steady 

gains in multiple areas, despite the challenges caused by the COVID-19 

pandemic. At the heart of Wisynco’s plans to catapult our growth is our man-

ufacturing prowess. We are proud of our ability to stay ahead of the crisis by 

being agile, focused, and innovative.

Notably, we continued producing consistently even though there were 

significant supply chain issues related to spare parts, raw materials, high 

labour turnover of technical staff, and absences due to COVID-19-related 

issues.

Notwithstanding the difficulties we successfully increased production by 

approximately 24% in the financial year 2022. We are committed to always 

improving our efficiencies and remaining relevant and productive in a fast-

paced and ever-changing environment.

We continue to maintain our international certifications which are key 

levers for accessing new markets. We retained our Quality Management Sys-

tems Certification (ISO 9001), Food Safety System Certification (FSSC 22000), 

Occupational Health and Safety Management Certification (ISO 45001), and 

Environment Management System Certifications (ISO 14001).  

‘Wata’ plant at Wisynco’s Lakes Pen location.



54 2022 WISYNCO ANNUAL REPORT 

Major projects during 
the year included:

n   Power generation expan-

sion with the purchase 

of a new 2KVA Diesel gas 

blend unit which will be 

installed in FY22/23. This 

will dramatically improve 

the quality, reliability, and 

cost of electrical energy 

for our company.

n   Installation of a Fire pro-

tection ring at White Marl, 

complete with a ring 

main around the facility, 

a fire pump and water 

storage dedicated to fire 

safety. This extensive 

undertaking was finally 

completed in July 2022 

and enabled us to surpass 

the Jamaica Fire Brigade 

standards and pass certi-

fication of the facility.

n   Major upgrades to our 

internal water supply 

system to improve the 

reliability of supply and 

accelerate our water 

usage ratio reduction 

(WUR). We are also 

upgrading our piping 

structure and began the 

design of a more efficient 

water purification system 

for implementation in 

fiscal 2023. 

n   Re-commissioning of a 

production line at our 

White Marl location to 

help us meet heightened 

demand during the 

year and supplement 

key stock-keeping units 

(SKU’s) not being pro-

duced at the Lakes Pen 

business unit. 
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Investing and Upgrading  
for the Future

In anticipating continued strong de-

mand for our core products, we designed 

and purchased a new line with new utility 

equipment and started construction to 

extend the current facilities as part of the 

announced $5 billion capital outlay. This 

additional line will be installed at Lakes 

Pen by the fourth quarter of financial year 

ending 2023 and commissioned during 

1st quarter of financial year ending 2024.

At White Marl, we embarked on a long-

term strategy to improve line efficiencies 

by making several upgrades.  This includ-

ed the acquisition of a new high-speed 

labeller, two new palletizers, and a new 

in-line pallet stretch wrapper. These were 

acquired in the third quarter of Fiscal 2022 

and will be installed and commissioned by 

the third quarter of fiscal 2023.

We also started upgrading a line to in-

clude a mixer and filler, utilizing the latest 

available technology with an energy-sav-

ing feature. This line will be shipped and 

installed in 2023 and will greatly enhance 

our ability to meet consumer demand and 

allow flexibility in production planning. 

These improvements with new machinery 

total approximately $1.9 million USD.

Health and Safety for ALL

At Wisynco we strive to build a robust 

health and safety culture of zero harm. 

Continuous training and adherence to 

the highest safety standards increases 

our ability to work in an environment of 

zero accidents. We engaged our entire 

workforce in the celebration of “World Day 

for Safety and Health in the Workplace” in 

April. Employees participated in quizzes, 

puzzles, Instagram spotlight roving cam-

era, and a jingle competition. The teams 

absolutely loved it!  This is a small example 

of our ongoing commitment to “improve 

the lives of our people”.

In our manufacturing division we 

continued to support our employees by 

extending the facility of providing trans-

portation, a practice brought on by the 

pandemic.

It is because of this support that we can 

maintain noteworthy achievements in an 

unquestionably difficult year. We will con-

tinue to blaze the trail and lift our team 

members through continued efforts as we 

grow, adapt, change and innovate.

Liquified Natural Gas (LNG) plant 

at Wisynco’s Lakes Pen location.
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Human Resources 

Remaining 
Resilient  

Our people are the heart of our busi-

ness, and our commitment to improv-

ing their lives is unwavering. We remain 

focused on our aspiration to provide 

meaningful work, in the best possible 

environment while offering best-in-

class learning and career development 

opportunities.  In Fiscal 22, as the 

pandemic entered its closing phase, 

we faced many challenges including 

staff retention and engagement. We 

also welcomed two new senior leaders 

to the Wisynco HR team. In embracing 

change, we look forward to building on 

our firm foundations and delivering a 

transformational people agenda.

Key People Priorities

THE TALENT AGENDA

This year we continued our in-

vestment in leadership development 

with the first cohort of the inaugural 

Wisynco LEAD Programme which ran 

from July 2021 to August 2021 and 

focused on building the capabilities of 

second-tier leaders in our organization. 

Having completed the groundbreaking 

programme, this first group of nine 

(9) leaders is expected to role model 

the newly acquired capabilities and 

strengthen our succession plans. 
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One of our goals is to strengthen 

the capacity of all employees to meet 

the demands of the workplace, future 

learning and everyday life through the 

development of essential skills. The 

Wisynco TRAC Programme (Training to 

be Relevant, Adaptable and Confident) 

officially started in September 2021. 

The target audience is employees who 

wish to upgrade their proficiency in 

the areas of English, Mathematics and 

EDPM (Electronic Document Prepara-

tion and Management) to the second-

ary level. 

A total of 45 employees enrolled for 

Cohort 1 across the three subject areas. 

Their current roles span Office Atten-

dant, Haulage Clerk, Grounds Crew, 

Packaging Operator, Credit Note Clerk, 

Inventory Officer and Data Entry clerk. 

They represent various departments 

such as Administration, Operations/

Warehouse, Credit, Inventory, Manu-

facturing and Security.  As an outcome 

of the programme, participants who 

attain the desired level of competen-

cy are encouraged to sit the CSEC (or 

City and Guilds Certification) exams in 

their subject. Cohort 1 is expected to 

complete the programme in June 2023 

after completing the exam. A second 

cohort will commence the programme 

in the new school year. 

We are proud of the efforts of the 

learning and development team which 

hosted 32 competency-based learning 

activities with participation from 795 

employees. Additionally, 308 full-time 

positions were filled, including 119 

roles through promotions and trans-

fers.  

Our Employee Tuition Assistance 

Programme continues to be an essen-

tial part of our offering to employees 

as we support them in their quest for 

personal development.

EMPLOYEE EXPERIENCE 

To acknowledge the contribution 

of our employees who stepped up 

to maximize the availability of our 

products to customers and consumers 

during the festive season, we distribut-

ed a total of 2000 gift baskets to all our 

employees and contractors in time for 

Christmas 2021 celebrations. 

As part of creating a more comfort-

able work environment, we completed 

the construction of the new dining 

room at our Lakes Pen Canteen and 

the facility was officially opened in 

April 2022. We will continue with the 

expansion and upgrading of the facility 

to enhance the overall experience. 

FORGING AHEAD WITH 
OUR PEOPLE

At Wisynco, we are proud of the 

tremendous talent that we have in 

the business, and we are focused on 

developing and nurturing our people 

now and in the exciting future we see 

ahead. HR will continue to add value 

by focusing on key areas to support 

business growth, these include: 

1.  Targeted Health Safety and 

well-being programmes across all 

functions and levels. 

2.  Leveraging and building on our 

unique culture to deliver sus-

tainable high-performance and 

employee engagement. 

3. Innovative and “fit for purpose” 

learning and development solu-

tions to grow our talent pipeline 

and secure our succession bench. 

4. Robust investment in Talent 

Acquisition to boost recruitment 

efficiency and quality of hire. 

As we refine our plans for the 

years to come, our commitment to 

improving the lives of our people 

and delivering value for our business 

remains at the heart of all we do. We 

are encouraged by the dedication and 

selflessness of our Wisynco Team and 

look forward to working with them to 

unlock extraordinary possibilities for 

the whole Wisynco family.  
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&A



572022 WISYNCO ANNUAL REPORT 

MD
&A

Risk Management and Internal Control

DOING THINGS  
THE RIGHT WAY

Wisynco recognizes that effective 

risk management is not about eliminat-

ing risk-taking, which is an integral part 

of any business activity. Rather, the 

Company strives to balance our stra-

tegic objectives with the risks we are 

prepared to take, all while conducting 

our business in a socially responsible 

and sustainable way.

To do so, Wisynco employs an enter-

prise-wide risk management frame-

work, driven by our company mission, 

vision and values, to enhance company 

performance and positively impact 

shareholder value. 

Our risk framework consists of 

several components including objective 

setting, identifying and assessing risk 

and risk responses, measuring and mon-

itoring risks, and finally, reporting on 

the effectiveness of risk responses to the 

Executive Management and the Board.  

The sub-committee to the Board, the 

Audit & Risk Committee, oversees the 

risk management process, reviewing the 

enterprise-wide risk profile and evaluat-

ing key risks on a quarterly basis.

THREE LINES MODEL

In support of the Company’s risk 

management programme, Manage-

ment employs the Three Lines Model 

to mitigate risks and threats.  

The model identifies structures 

and processes that best support the 

achievement of objectives and fa-

cilitates strong governance and risk 

management.

A critical component of the model is 

the internal audit function which pro-

vides assurance to Executive Manage-

ment and the Board, through the Audit 

& Risk Committee, that systems and 

processes are operating effectively. 

Further, Internal Audit provides sup-

port in maintaining the public’s confi-

dence by performing independent and 

objective reviews, and reporting on 

findings so that corrective actions or 

enhancements are implemented and 

followed through to completion.   

Overall, this approach to risk man-

agement and internal control allows 

the Committee to 1) make informed 

decisions about the acceptable level of 

risk, 2) oversee that Management im-

plements the necessary safeguards and 

controls to mitigate risk, and 3) align 

the Company’s strategic objectives 

with company policies and practices, 

thereby increasing company perfor-

mance and shareholder value.
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Information Technology 
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Driving Growth Through Superior Technology Support and Innovation

Wisynco marked yet another suc-

cessful year of driving technological 

innovation to support the business 

in satisfying our customers.  

We focused on sustaining the 

Company’s continued growth by 

ensuring the availability of expert 

technology support and building 

enhanced data capabilities.

Our activities included expand-

ing functionality in areas of Invento-

ry, Warehouse Management, Trade 

and Logistics to better manage 

supply chain demands. This is 

in direct support of fulfilling our 

growing customer needs and our 

commitment to enhancing custom-

er satisfaction using information 

technology. 

Having prepared our systems to 

manage increasing demands, we 

continued to operate within best 

practice recommendations to en-

sure continued uptime and systems 

availability. Once again, we are 

pleased to report that systems avail-

ability throughout the year met our 

Key Performance Indicator metrics. 

Improved monitoring and mainte-

nance played a key supporting role 

in meeting these standards.  

As we emerge from the pan-

demic, we have adopted a stan-

dards-based approach to IT (COBIT) 

which is targeted for completion 

in the upcoming financial year. 

Additionally, our application 

portfolio was expanded to include 

cloud solutions in a secure working 

environment that provided ease of 

access to users. 

We also focused on the perfor-

mance management of the team 

and preparing our technology team 

to better support new emerging 

systems from best-of-breed tech-

nology suppliers and partners. 

People development is critical to 

our success, and we invested in 

training and developing our IT staff 

to fuel the fast pace of change of 

our technology systems. This will be 

ongoing as we continue to mod-

ernize and expand our information 

technology assets which in turn 

drive our ability to innovate.  

Data security and privacy are 

of utmost importance to us. We, 

therefore, remain vigilant in an 

increasingly hostile cybersecurity 

environment and consistently main-

tain strict procedural guidelines 

to manage all risks and mitigate 

threats using current technologies. 

This will remain an area of constant 

review and update. 

As we look towards the future, 

we are poised to continue this 

journey of technological innovation 

to increase agility, drive efficiencies 

and support the business in meet-

ing our strategic objectives and the 

expectations of all our customers.  
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ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL, GOVERNANCE

Wisynco’s Mission … “Improving the Lives of Our People” … resonates both within 

the Company for our employees and externally to the wider Jamaican community. 
We are committed to the continued growth of our Company in a sustainable and 

socially responsible way for greater value to all stakeholders.

Our ESG Story: How it started …

Our ESG journey began with Wisynco’s close associ-

ation and founding mentorship of organisations such 

as Food For the Poor (FFP) and Recycling Partners of 

Jamaica (RPJ). Wisynco has long held a tradition of ser-

vice to God, Family, Country, Company and last but not 

least its people and the surrounding communities.

At the close of this financial year, Wisynco embarked 

on a journey toward making purposeful, long-term 

commitments in support of the Environment, Social 

and Governance (ESG) objectives that will be incorpo-

rated in the Company’s strategic planning.

Our goals and priorities will expand into the arenas 

of 1) the improvement of our people through Edu-

cation, Health and Wellbeing programs, Equity and 

Inclusion policies, and 2) consideration for our impact 

on the world around us through Energy and Water 

conservation, and Responsible consumption and pro-

duction practices.
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ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL, GOVERNANCE

• Launched an education campaign 

in honour of Jamaica’s 60th anniver-

sary of Independence and provided 

scholarships for over 200 students 

and teachers across the island.

• Provided educational assistance 

to our employees through our 

‘LEAD’ and ‘Future Leaders’ pro-

grams designed to develop talent 

and provide continuous learning 

opportunities.

• Encouraged and promoted the 

opportunity for our employees to 

improve their essential Math and 

English skills through our Training to 

become Relevant Adaptable & Con-

fident “TRAC” program which saw 24 

employee graduates this year.

• Promoted Wata 4-a-day campaign 

to raise awareness on the health 

benefits of drinking sufficient water.

• Supplied clean water to communi-

ties through donations to over 100 

organizations.

• Reduced our plastic content in 

water bottles by 50%  and by 

20% for carbonated beverages, 

over the last 7-8 years.

• Founding member of RPJ and 

provide continual financial 

support through over J$400M in 

financial contributions this year. 

• Drive awareness and collection 

efforts through Wisynco ECO 

brand and “Recycling Plastic 

Feels Fantastic” campaign.

• We have been treating waste 

water running off from our man-

ufacturing processes for over 10 

years and currently treat approx. 

400m3 per day or 105,000 gal-

lons of industrial waste water.  

We are in the process of up-

grading the waste water treat-

ment plant to facilitate greater 

throughput.

• Invested over US$2M in a  

2MGW Liquefied Natural Gas 

(LNG) plant..

• Wisynco employs over 1800 

permanent employees and over 

500 temporary and contracted 

employees. 

• Wisynco’s management team is 

comprised of approximately 49% 

women. 

• Wisynco women in leadership 

positions (positions that report 

directly to the CEO) is approxi-

mately 40%.

• Donated approximately J$12M 

to build 10 homes for Jamaicans 

through collaborative efforts with 

BOOM and Food For The Poor.

• Contributed more than 60 

charitable donations to commu-

nity and institutional activities 

throughout the year.

• Encouraged development of 

work ethic and created job 

opportunities for young people 

through internship program 

during the summer.

Wisynco has and will continue to strive for …

    Excellence in ENVIRONMENTAL management

    Delivering a positive SOCIAL impact

    Robust corporate GOVERNANCE

Improving the Lives of Our People

PEOPLE:
Education    Health

PLANET
Water    Energy

PROSPERITY:
  Job        Community

Creation  Development

Source: United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)
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Wisynco has been a public company for 5 years as of 2022, and we 

have gradually adopted new methods to track and communicate effec-

tively what we have always done, which is to respect the Environment, 

care about Our People, and govern our Company effectively.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Honouring this symbiotic relationship, Wisynco 

has pledged to safeguard Jamaica’s greatest asset: its 

environment.

Wisynco has since its inception in 1965, recycled 

as much of its waste as possible. This was exemplified 

in late 1995 when we started recycling plastic bottles 

even before we started producing them ourselves.  

Our commitment to recycling has only grown in recent 

years and 2021- 2022 saw us invest the largest amount 

ever with more than J$400M invested through Recy-

cling Partners of Jamaica.  In keeping with our com-

mitment to driving product innovation and providing 

great-tasting, quality products that fit every lifestyle, 

we are also passionate about playing our part to reduce 

our eco-footprint.  Over the years, Wisynco has imple-

mented many sustainability projects and will continue 

to place emphasis on this area

Wisynco has also now more formally, documented 

aspects of its governance. 

Wisynco participates actively in many private sector 

and public sector initiatives to improve the lives of 

Jamaicans. We have been very involved in working 

with the JMEA, Bureau of Standards, Ministry of Health, 

and other agencies to review the Jamaican and Ca-
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ribbean labelling standards 

to ensure Jamaicans are well 

informed about the products 

they consume by providing a 

comprehensively designed la-

bel that reflects standards that 

all manufacturers must meet. 

This project has been ongoing 

and supported by Wisynco and 

its Executives for many years. 

This is in keeping with the 

Government’s work to tackle 

obesity and non-communicable 

diseases.

In the past financial year,  

despite the pressures brought 

to bear by the ongoing 

COVID-19 pandemic, Wisynco 

was able to maintain our strong 

community links, albeit on a 

reduced scale because of the 

difficulty of movement and 

the need for social distancing.  

Indeed, the demand for social 

support was even more evident 

and our team was up to the task 

of finding innovative ways to 

make meaningful contributions.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Vaccination Blitzes

Despite the challenges of contin-

uous COVID-19 disruptions and the 

uncertainty of the past year, we found 

ways to continue to fulfill our mission- 

to improve the lives of the people 

within our company and in the wider 

Jamaican community.   This year we 

maintained our focus on finding ave-

nues to support health and wellness 

activities, promote access to quality 

education, and highlight environmen-

tal sustainability. We invested heavily 

in the drive to get Jamaicans vaccinat-

ed and our executives demonstrated 

strong leadership by being at the 

forefront of this drive.

Close to 400 Wisynco team mem-

bers participated in the first of three 

Vaccination Drives at Wisynco’s Lakes 

Pen headquarters in St. Catherine 

on September 7. The initiative was 

executed as a collaborative effort 

between Wisynco and the Ministry 

of Health and Wellness (MOHW), led 

by the Private Sector Organization of 

Jamaica’s (PSOJ) Private Sector Vaccine 

Initiative (PSVI) .

As one of the leading food and 

beverage manufacturers, we contin-

ued to lend support on a national level 

through the MOHW COVID-19 Vacci-

nation Blitz sites across the island with 

the provision of WATA and CranWATA 

to aid the hydration of participants. 

The Company also provided equip-

ment such as tents, coolers, tables, 

and extended its support through 

medical innovation – most notably 

the fabrication of hundreds of poly-

ethylene terephthalate (PET) bottles 

to make medical spacers which were 

donated to the Southeast Regional 

Health Authority (SERHA) through the 

Kingston Public Hospital (KPH).
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“WATAhouse” community clean up

In September 2021, Wisynco who has been a long-standing 

sponsor of the Jamaica Premier League team Waterhouse took 

the opportunity to strengthen its commitment to the Water-

house community.

Through its partnership with Recycling Partners of Jamaica 

(RPJ), and to kick start a recycling initiative, Wisynco conducted 

a community clean-up activity in conjunction with the Jamaica 

Environment Trust (JET) and was supported by the community 

members and the three schools in the area. Under the initiative, 

the three schools in the community will benefit from funding 

gained through their recycling programme and also received 

five tablets each to support online learning activities. Two small 

retail locations in the area also received a facelift.

Balcombe Drive Primary and Junior High, St Patrick’s Primary, 

and Drew’s Avenue Primary and Infant School will be fitted with 

recycling cages that will be accessible to students and commu-

nity members to facilitate the collection of plastic bottles. 

The community clean-up saw the collection of thousands of 

plastic bottles during the two-hour activity.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Community Support

One of our signature activities was to find and 

support Jamaicans who were making their own 

unique contribution to the fight against COVID-19 

disruptions, particularly for our students, one such 

being a Wata donation to Kevin Peart, a young man 

hosting free tutoring sessions for students in his 

community. We continued to invest in awareness 

campaigns, provided hydration support to many 

Community vaccination activities and through the 

support of over 100 organizations, we were able to 

provide aid to persons in need, including locked 

down communities, retirement homes, youth 

homes, and others including The National Children’s 

Home, Maxfield Park Children’s Home and The 

Wortley Home for Girls.  Beyond this, we donated 

over 140,000 bottles of our beverages to support 

COVID-19 relief and vaccination centers to hydrate 

our frontline workers and other persons getting 

vaccinated. 

During Christmas 2021, we made over 60 charita-

ble donations to community and institutional activi-

ties including Christmas treats for the Denham Town 

Senior Citizens Association, The Sir John Golding 

Rehabilitation Centre and Jamaica Autism Support 

Association. Other charitable outreach activities 

include the Jesse Royal Back to School Treat, White 

River Fish sanctuary fundraiser and the Red Cross 

Prison Oval Community outreach.
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Tan Ah Yuh Yard - Boom Food For The Poor 
Housing Initiative Continues

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

BOOM, Jamaica’s first 100% 

locally manufactured energy 

drink celebrated its  

10-year anniversary in 2021-

2022 by gifting some of the 

island’s most vulnerable with 10 

houses through a Food for The 

Poor ‘Tan Ah Yuh Yard’ COVID-19 

housing initiative. The first of 

the 10 home constructions 

took place in Braeton Mead-

ows, Portmore, St. Catherine for 

debilitated, 69-year-old retired 

postal worker Joan Willie. BOOM 

was the first corporate partner 

to give 10 houses under the ‘Tan 

Ah Yuh Yard’ Campaign.”

 Dancehall sensation and 

BOOM Ambassador Shenseea 

was also present at the first 

hand over. The Food for the Poor 

‘double-unit’ structures built by 

a small crew of skilled labourers 

and Wisynco volunteers contain 

two rooms, a kitchen, and a 

bathroom. They come equipped 

with plumbing, sanitary conve-

niences, and water storage tanks 

to facilitate sustainable hygiene 

and sanitation practices to help 

contain the spread of COVID-19. 

Twenty Jamaican families have 

so far benefited from this initia-

tive and recipients were select-

ed from all parishes in Jamaica.

Boom has committed to 

fulfilling another 10 homes in 

2023.
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Independent auditor’s report  
 

To the Members of Wisynco Group Limited 

Report on the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements  

Our opinion  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and the stand-alone financial statements give a 

true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of Wisynco Group Limited (the Company) and 

its subsidiary (together ‘the Group’) and the stand-alone financial position of the Company as at 30 

June 2022, and of their consolidated and stand-alone financial performance and their consolidated 

and stand-alone cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) and with the requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act. 

What we have audited 

The Group’s consolidated and stand-alone financial statements comprise: 

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022; 

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;  

• the company statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022; 

• the company statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

• the company statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

• the company statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information.  

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 

audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Scotiabank Centre, Duke Street, Box 372, Kingston, Jamaica 
T: (876) 922 6230, F: 876) 922 7581, www.pwc.com/jm 

L.A. McKnight B.L. Scott B.J. Denning G.A. Reece P.A. Williams R.S. Nathan C.I. Bell-Wisdom G.K. Moore T.N. Smith DaSilva K.D. Powell 
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Independence 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics 

Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with the IESBA Code.  

Our audit approach 

Audit scope 
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material 
misstatement in the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements. In particular, we considered 
where management made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting 
estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently 
uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal 
controls, including, among other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that 
represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

 
How we tailored our group audit scope  

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the 
Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates. 

 

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 

our audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements of the current period. These matters 

were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements as 

a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 

matters. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Impairment assessment for the Group’s 

shareholding in associated company (Group 

and Company) 

Refer to notes 2(b)(ii), 4(b) and 17 to the 

consolidated and stand-alone financial 

statements for disclosures of related accounting 

policies and balances. 

During the financial year, JP Snacks Caribbean 

Limited, an associated company of the Group, 

incurred losses due mainly to the effects of the 

COVID-19 pandemic. This was considered to be 

an indicator of impairment and resulted in 

management performing a formal impairment 

assessment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We engaged independent qualified valuation experts to 

assist us in evaluating the work of management’s experts. 

With the aid of our valuation experts, we performed the 

following procedures: 

• Evaluated the competence and objectivity of 

management’s experts.  

• Evaluated the appropriateness of the valuation 

methodology utilised to determine the recoverable 

amount in accordance with IAS 36. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

At 30 June 2022, the investment in JP Snacks 

Caribbean Limited was carried at $571 million or 

2.2% of total assets for the Group and $586 

million or 2.3% of total assets for the Company. 

Management engaged an expert to perform a 

value-in-use (VIU) calculation to determine a 

value for the recoverable amount for its 

investment in the associate, as required by IAS 

36, “Impairment of non-financial assets”. Based 

on the assessment, management determined 

there was no impairment. 

We focused on this area due to its subjectivity 

and the sensitivity to changes in inputs and 

assumptions, as the performance of VIU 

calculations involves the use of a number of 

estimates including the pre-tax discount rate, 

terminal value growth rate and gross profit 

margins. 

The judgement involved in determining the 

impact of COVID-19 on the key assumptions 

also caused us to focus on this area.  

• Agreed the base year financial information used to 

generate forecast cash flows to current year results 

and compared the previous forecasts to actual results 

to assess the performance of the business and the 

accuracy of management’s forecasting. 

• Obtained an understanding of management’s 

budgeting process and reconciled key cash flow 

forecast inputs, such as revenue and gross margins, 

to approved budgets.  

• Tested management’s assumptions, including the 

impact of COVID-19 on those assumptions as 

follows: 

o Pre-tax discount rate - evaluated management’s 

inputs against independent third party economic 

and industry data and, where applicable, 

company specific data; 

o Terminal value growth rate - evaluated 

management’s terminal value growth by 

assessing the feasibility of management's plans 

to increase revenue over the forecast period and 

assessing the terminal value growth rate against 

long-term GDP growth rate forecasts; and 

o Gross profit margins - evaluated management's 

expected gross profit margin over the period by 

reference to historical gross profit margins and 

by evaluating the potential impact of 

management's cost saving mechanisms. 

• Tested the mathematical accuracy of management’s 

model and considered the sensitivity of the 

recoverable amount by factoring a discount for lack of 

marketability. 

  

Based on the procedures performed, management’s 

assumptions and judgments in relation to the 

recoverable amount of the investment in associate, in 

our view, were not unreasonable and no adjustment 

for impairment was required.  
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Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Annual 

Report (but does not include the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements and our auditor’s 

report thereon), which is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.  

Our opinion on the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements does not cover the other 

information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, our 

responsibility is to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing 

so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and stand-

alone financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated.  

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are 

required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
consolidated and stand-alone financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 

statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and with the requirements of the 

Jamaican Companies Act, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 

enable the preparation of consolidated and stand-alone financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, management is responsible for 

assessing the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 

either intends to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group and Company’s financial 

reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and stand-alone 

financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 

and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 

assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and stand-alone financial 

statements.  
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and stand-alone 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group and Company’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group or Company’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 

in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and stand-alone financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events 

or conditions may cause the Group or Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and stand-alone 

financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and stand-alone 

financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 

fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 

We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 

that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements of 

the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 

report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 

adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication.  
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  

As required by the Jamaican Companies Act, we have obtained all the information and 

explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of 

our audit. 

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept, so far as appears from our examination of 

those records, and the accompanying consolidated and stand-alone financial statements are in 

agreement therewith and give the information required by the Jamaican Companies Act, in the manner 

so required. 

 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Garfield Reece.  

 

 

 

 

Chartered Accountants 

29 August 2022 

Kingston, Jamaica  
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 Note  
2022 
$’000  

2021 
$’000 

Revenue 5  39,045,880  31,816,430 

Cost of sales   (25,794,948)  (20,700,100) 

Gross Profit   13,250,932  11,116,330 

Other operating income 6  151,559  240,581 

Selling and distribution expenses   (7,094,702)  (6,149,378) 

Administration expenses   (1,437,412)  (1,416,660) 

Operating Profit   4,870,377  3,790,873 

Finance income 9  301,258  195,534 

Finance costs 10  (149,059)  (153,730)  

Share of results of associate 17  (28,124)  (29,722) 

Profit before Taxation   4,994,452  3,802,955 

Taxation 11  (940,769)  (730,655)  

Net Profit   4,053,683  3,072,300  

Other Comprehensive Income      

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss      

Exchange differences on translation of foreign subsidiary   (570)  6,093 

Share of other comprehensive income of associate 17  18,504  5,636 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss      

Unrealised gains on investment securities 19  114,701  11,362 

Total Comprehensive Income   4,186,318  3,095,391  

      

Earnings Per Stock Unit attributable to stockholders of the Group 12     

Basic and Fully Diluted   $1.08  $0.82 

   $1.08  $0.82 

 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

WISYNCO GROUP LIMITED

Year ended 30 June 2022  (expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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 Note  
2022 
$’000  

2021 
$’000 

Non-Current Assets      

Property, plant and equipment 14  6,276,824  6,630,904 

Intangible assets 15  6,911  18,247 

Investment in associate 17  570,561  580,181 

Loans receivable 18  212,723  205,685 

Investment securities 19  1,070,595  640,840 

   8,137,614  8,075,857 

Current Assets      

 Inventories  20  5,415,339  3,591,118 

 Receivables and prepayments 21  4,017,597  2,635,049 

Investment securities 19  641,526  402,827 

Cash and short-term deposits 22  7,679,736  7,661,003 

   17,754,198  14,289,997 

Current Liabilities      

Trade and other payables 23  5,998,416  4,590,330 

Short-term borrowings  24  759,322  765,451 

Lease liabilities 25  63,115  80,292 

Taxation payable   453,639  464,199  

   7,274,492  5,900,272  

Net Current Assets   10,479,706  8,389,725  

   18,617,320  16,465,582  

  

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

WISYNCO GROUP LIMITED

30 June 2022  (expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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 Note  
2022 

$’000  
2021 

$’000 

Equity      

Capital and reserves attributable to the  
   company’s equity holders       

Share capital  26  1,258,319  1,192,647 

Other reserves 27  515,130  369,039  

Translation reserve 28  77,798  59,864 

Retained earnings 29  15,985,222  13,432,757  

   17,836,469  15,054,307  

Non-Current Liabilities      

Deferred tax liabilities 30  33,885  99,966  

Borrowings 24  642,053  1,311,309 

Lease liabilities 25  104,913  - 

   780,851  1,411,275  

   18,617,320  16,465,582  

 
 
 

Approved by the Board of Directors on 29 August 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

  

 Director    Director 

 
 
 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

WISYNCO GROUP LIMITED

30 June 2022  (expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Number of 
shares 
’000 

Share 
Capital 
$’000 

Other 
Reserves 

$’000 

  Retained 
Earnings 

  $’000 

Translation 
Reserve 

  $’000 

Total 
Equity  
$’000 

Balance at 1 July 2020 3,750,000 1,192,647 248,534 11,485,457  48,135  12,974,773  

Net profit - - - 3,072,300  - 3,072,300  

Changes in fair value of equity instruments 
measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 19) - - 11,362 - - 11,362 

Share of other comprehensive income of 
associate (Note 17) - - - - 5,636 5,636 

Exchange differences on translating foreign 
subsidiary - - - - 6,093 6,093 

Total comprehensive income - - 11,362  3,072,300  11,729 3,095,391  

Transactions with owners -       

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) expenses, 
net of taxes - - 109,143  - - 109,143  

 Dividends (Note 33) - - - (1,125,000) - (1,125,000) 

 - - 109,143 (1,125,000) - (1,015,857) 

Balance at 30 June 2021 3,750,000 1,192,647 369,039  13,432,757  59,864 15,054,307  

Net profit - - - 4,053,683 - 4,053,683 

Changes in fair value of equity instruments 
measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 19) - - 114,701 - - 114,701 

Share of other comprehensive income of 
associate (Note 17) - - - - 18,504 18,504 

Exchange differences on translating foreign 
subsidiary - - - - (570) (570) 

Total comprehensive income - - 114,701 4,053,683 17,934 4,186,318 

       

Transactions with owners -       

 

Issue of Shares 6,250 99,503 (14,676) - 

 

- 84,827 

Amount held as treasury shares (2,125) (33,831) - - - (33,831) 

Shares issued through LTIP 4,125 65,672 (14,676) - - 50,996 

 Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) expenses, 
net of taxes  - - 46,066 - - 46,066 

 Dividends (Note 33) - - - (1,501,218) - (1,501,218) 

 - 65,672 31,390 (1,501,218) - (1,404,156) 

Balance at 30 June 2022 3,754,125 1,258,319 515,130 15,985,222 77,798 17,836,469 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

WISYNCO GROUP LIMITED

Year ended 30 June 2022  (expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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 Note  
2022 
$’000  

2021 
$’000 

Operating Activities      

Cash provided by operating activities 31  3,108,449  4,663,560  

Cash Flows from Investing Activities      

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14  (424,323)  (591,771) 

Purchase of intangible assets 15  -  (3,849) 

Purchase of investments 19  (640,367)  (768,075)  

Net withdrawals of deposits over 3 months   291,935  909,751 

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment   5,466  1,039 

Proceeds from the sale of investment securities   77,122  325,157 

Dividend received   593  859 

Long term receivable    (7,038)  (19,131) 

Interest received   320,205  190,064 

Cash (used in)/provided by investing activities   (376,407)  44,044  

Cash Flows from Financing Activities      

Interest paid   (110,152)  (147,191) 

Proceeds from shares issued under LTIP    50,996  - 

Long-term loans repaid 31  (661,950)  (661,950)  

Lease liabilities repaid   (131,913)  (104,424)  

Loan commitment fees paid 31  (8,000)  (2,875) 

     Long-term loans received 31  -  500,000 

Dividend paid   (1,500,393)  (712,500) 

     Cash used in financing activities   (2,361,412)  (1,128,940)  

Increase in cash and cash equivalents   370,630  3,578,664  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year                                         7,265,567  3,637,130 
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates on cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
 (53,833)  49,773  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 22  7,582,364  7,265,567  

 
 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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 Note  
2022 
$’000  

2021 
$’000 

Revenue 5  39,034,887  31,804,754 

Cost of sales   (25,777,760)  (20,675,931) 

Gross Profit   13,257,127  11,128,823 

Other operating income 6  141,564  230,469 

Selling and distribution expenses   (7,151,909)  (6,216,406) 

Administration expenses   (1,443,782)  (1,417,764) 

Operating Profit   4,803,000  3,725,122 

Finance income 9  301,258  195,534 

Finance costs 10  (147,694)  (154,334) 

Profit before Taxation   4,956,564  3,766,322 

Taxation 11  (940,769)  (729,996)  

Net Profit   4,015,795  3,036,326  

Other Comprehensive Income      

Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss      

Unrealised gains on investment securities 19  114,701  11,362 

Total Comprehensive Income   4,130,496  3,047,688  

      

Company Statement of Comprehensive Income

WISYNCO GROUP LIMITED

Year ended 30 June 2022  (expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on and signed 29 August 2022 on its behalf by: 

 

 

   

 Director   Director 

 

 Note  

2022 

$’000  

2021 

$’000 

Non-Current Assets      

Property, plant and equipment 14  6,276,824  6,630,904 

Intangible assets 15  6,911  18,247 

Investment in subsidiary 16  11,375  11,375 

Investment in associate 17  586,169  586,169 

Loans receivable 18  212,723  205,685 

Investment securities 19  1,070,595  640,840 

   8,164,597  8,093,220 

Current Assets      

Inventories  20  5,415,339  3,591,118 

Receivables and prepayments 21  3,988,732  2,604,413 

Investment securities 19  641,526  402,827 

Cash and short-term deposits 22  7,425,124  7,478,877 

   17,470,721  14,077,235  

Current Liabilities      

Trade and other payables 23  5,970,997  4,568,547 

Short-term borrowings  24  759,322  765,451 

Lease liabilities 25  63,115  80,292 

Taxation payable   453,639  463,836  

   7,247,073  5,878,126  

Net Current Assets   10,223,648  8,199,109  

   18,388,245  16,292,329  

Shareholders’ Equity      

Share capital  26  1,258,319  1,192,647 

Other reserves 27  515,130  369,039  

Retained earnings   15,833,945  13,319,368 

   17,607,394  14,881,054  

Non-Current Liabilities      

Deferred tax liabilities 30  33,885  99,966  

Borrowings 24  642,053  1,311,309 

Lease liabilities 25  104,913  - 

   780,851  1,411,275  

   18,388,245  16,292,329  

Company Statement of Financial Position

WISYNCO GROUP LIMITED

30 June 2022  (expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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 Note 

Number of 
shares 
‘000 

Share 
Capital 
$’000 

Other 
Reserves 

$’000 

 Retained 
Earnings 

  $’000 
Total 
$’000 

Balance at 1 July 2020  3,750,000 1,192,647 248,534  11,408,042  12,849,223  

Net profit  - - - 3,036,326  3,036,326 

Changes in fair value of equity instruments 
measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 19 - - 11,362 - 11,362 

Total comprehensive income  - - 11,362  3,036,326  3,047,688  

Transactions with owners -       

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) expenses, 
net of taxes  - - 109,143  - 109,143  

 Dividends  33 - - - (1,125,000) (1,125,000) 

  - - 109,143 (1,125,000) (1,015,857) 

Balance at 30 June 2021  3,750,000 1,192,647 369,039  13,319,368  14,881,054  

Net profit  - - - 4,015,795 4,015,795 

Changes in fair value of equity instruments 
measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  19 - - 114,701 - 114,701 

Total comprehensive income  - - 114,701 4,015,795 4,130,496 

       

Transactions with owners -       

 

Issue of Shares  6,250 99,503 (14,676) 

 

- 84,827 

Amount held as treasury shares  (2,125) (33,831) - - (33,831) 

Shares issued through LTIP  4,125 65,672 (14,676) - 50,996 

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) 
expenses, net of taxes   - - 46,066 - 46,066 

Dividends      33     - - - (1,501,218) (1,501,218) 

  - 65,672 31,390 (1,501,218) (1,404,156) 

Balance at 30 June 2022  3,754,125 1,258,319 515,130 15,833,945 17,607,394 

 
 
 
 

Company Statement of Changes in Equity

WISYNCO GROUP LIMITED

Year ended 30 June 2022  (expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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 Note  
 2022 
$’000  

2021 
$’000 

Operating Activities      

Cash provided by operating activities 31  3,035,963  4,607,971 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities      

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14  (424,323)  (591,771) 

Purchase of intangible assets 15  -  (3,849) 

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment   5,466  1,039 

Purchase of investment securities 19  (640,367)  (768,075) 

Proceeds from the sale of investment securities   77,122  325,157 

Long term receivables net   (7,038)  (19,131) 

Net withdrawals/(placements) of deposits over 3 months   291,935  909,751 

Dividend received   593  859 

Interest received   320,204  190,064 

Cash (used in)/provided by investing activities   (376,408)  44,044 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities      

Interest paid   (110,151)  (147,191) 

Proceeds from shares issued under LTIP   50,996  - 

Long-term loans repaid 31  (661,950)  (661,950) 

Lease liabilities repaid   (131,913)  (104,424) 

     Long-term loans received 31  -  500,000 

Commitment fees paid 31  (8,000)  (2,875) 

Dividend paid   (1,500,393)  (712,500) 

     Cash used in financing activities   (2,361,411)  (1,128,940) 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents   298,144  3,523,075 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year                                         7,083,441  3,510,593 
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates on cash and cash 
equivalents  

 
 (53,833)  49,773 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 22  7,327,752  7,083,441 

Company Statement of Cash Flows

WISYNCO GROUP LIMITED

Year ended 30 June 2022  (expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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1.   Identification and Principal Activities 
 

(a) Wisynco Group Limited (the Company) is a limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica. 
The parent company is Wisynco Group (Caribbean) Limited, a Barbados International Business Company. The 
ultimate controlling party of the Company is Evesam Investments Holdings Limited, a company incorporated 
in the Cayman Islands. The registered office of the Company is located at Lakespen, St Catherine. The 
Company's ordinary shares are listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE). 

 
(b) The Company, including its investment in associate, JP Snacks, together with its wholly owned subsidiary, 

Indies Insurance Company Limited, is referred to as “the Group”.  
 

(c) The principal activities of the Group are the bottling and distribution of water and beverages, the distribution 
and retailing of food items and the provision of insurance services. 

 
2. Significant Accounting Policies 
 

(a) Basis of preparation 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to 
companies reporting under IFRS. The financial statements comply with IFRS as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  
 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the 
revaluation of certain financial assets. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s 
accounting policies. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events 
and actions, actual results could differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement 
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are 
disclosed in Note 4. 
 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in current year 

Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published that 
became effective during the current financial year. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new 
standards, interpretations and amendments and determined that none was relevant to its operations. 
 

  

 

 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2.    Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective  
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and 
interpretations to existing standards have been issued which were not yet effective for the Group at the 
statement of financial position date, and which the Group has not early adopted. The Group has assessed the 
relevance of all such new standards, interpretations and amendments, has determined that the following may 
be relevant to its operations, and has concluded as follows:  

 
Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements’, on classification of liabilities (effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024). These narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation 
of financial statements’, clarify that liabilities are classified as either current or non-current, depending on the 
rights that exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification is unaffected by the expectations of the entity or 
events after the reporting date (for example, the receipt of a waiver or a breach of covenant). The amendment 
also clarifies what IAS 1 means when it refers to the ‘settlement’ of a liability. The Group is currently assessing 
the impact of this standard. 

 

Narrow scope amendments to IAS 1, Practice statement 2 and IAS 8 (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2023). The amendments aim to improve accounting policy disclosures and to 
help users of the financial statements to distinguish between changes in accounting estimates and changes 
in accounting policies. The adoption of this amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on the 
Group.  

 

Amendment to IAS 12 – deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). These amendments require companies 
to recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal amounts of taxable and 
deductible temporary differences. The Group is currently assessing the impact of this amendment. 

 
IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’, as amended in December 2021 (effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2023). This standard replaces IFRS 4, which currently permits a wide variety of practices 
in accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 will fundamentally change the accounting by all entities that 
issue insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features. The Group is 
currently assessing the impact of this amendment. 
 

  

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective 
(continued)  

 

The Group has concluded that all other standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards, 
which are published but not yet effective are either relevant to its operations but will have no material impact 
on adoption; or are not relevant to its operations and will therefore have no material impact on adoption, or 
contain inconsequential clarifications that will have no material impact when they come into effect. 

 

(b) Basis of consolidation  
 

(i) Subsidiaries  
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the 
voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible 
are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. The Group also assesses the 
existence of control where it does not have more than 50% of the voting power but is able to govern the 
financial and operating policies by virtue of de-facto control. De-facto control may arise in circumstances 
where the size of the Group’s voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of other 
shareholders give the Group the power to govern the financial and operating policies, etc. 
 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no 
longer consolidated from the date that control ceases.  
 

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The 
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed 
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at 
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. 
 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through 
profit or loss. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at 
the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that are 
deemed to be an asset or liability are recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 either in profit or loss or as 
a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 
 

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount 
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity 
interest over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this 
consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is 
recognised in profit or loss.  

 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)  
 

(i)  Subsidiaries (continued) 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies 
are eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless cost cannot be recovered. Where necessary, 
the accounting policies of the subsidiary have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 
 
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions – that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference 
between the fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of 
net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests 
are also recorded in equity. 
 
When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value 
at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair 
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest 
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed 
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
The Group's subsidiary is as follows: 

 

                       Entity 

Financial 
Reporting Year-

end 
Country of 

Incorporation 

Nature of 
Business Group’s percentage 

interest 

    2022    2021   

Indies Insurance Company 
Limited 

 

30 June St. Lucia 

Captive 
insurance 100  100 

 
  

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 

(ii) Associates 
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in 
associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. 
Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is 
increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the investee’s profit or loss, other 
comprehensive income and changes recognised directly in equity after the date of acquisition. The 
Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill and other intangible assets identified on acquisition, 
net of any amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  
 
If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a 
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified 
to profit or loss where appropriate. 
 
The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in profit or loss, and 
its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income and reserves are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and reserves respectively. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are 
adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an 
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the 
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf 
of the associate. 
 
The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment 
in the associate is impaired.  If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the 
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the 
amount as part of the ‘share of results of associated companies’ in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of 
the Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.  Accounting policies of associates have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. Dilution 
gains and losses arising in investments in associates are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 
 
In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment in associates is shown at cost. 
 
The Group's associated company is as follows: 

 

 

Financial 
Reporting Year-

end 
Country of 

Incorporation 

Nature of 
Business Group’s percentage 

interest 

    2022    2021   

JP Snacks Caribbean 
Limited (consolidated) 

 

31 December Cayman Islands 

Manufacturing 
and distribution 30.0  30.0 

  

 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements

WISYNCO GROUP LIMITED

30 June 2022  (expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)



872022 WISYNCO ANNUAL REPORT - Audited Financial Statements 

 

 

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(c) Revenue and income recognition 
Group revenue comprises revenue of the group and its subsidiary. Revenue is shown net of General 
Consumption Tax or applicable sales tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within 
the Group.   
 
Revenue comprises amounts charged to customers in respect of the sale of water and beverages, general 
food items and fast food items. 
 
Sales of goods 

Revenue is recognised as performance obligations are satisfied, that is, over time or at a point in time. Where 
a customer contract contains multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated to each 
distinct performance obligation based on the relative stand-alone selling prices of the goods or services being 
provided to the customer. 

Certain contracts with customers provide a right of return, free goods, volume discounts, rebates and other 
incentives. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for customer returns and sales 
incentives using the expected value method, and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly 
probable that a significant reversal will not occur.  
 
Interest and dividend income 
Interest income is recorded on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. Dividends are recognised 
when the right to receive payments is established. 
 
Other operating income 
Other operating income primarily comprising rebates received and the sale of miscellaneous items is 
recognised as it accrues unless collectability is in doubt. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(d) Foreign currency translation  
 
Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. At the year-end, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated 
using the closing exchange rate. Exchange differences arising from the settlement of transactions at rates 
different from those at the dates of the transactions and unrealised foreign exchange differences on unsettled 
foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss. 

Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
currency. 

 
(e) Property, plant and equipment  

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical or deemed cost less depreciation.   
 
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are written off on a straight-line basis over their 
expected useful lives using the following rates: 
 
Buildings 2½ - 3 ⅓% 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10 - 50% 
Motor vehicles 20%  
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the life of the lease or the useful life of the asset 
 
Land is not depreciated. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included 
in operating profit. 
 
Repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are 
incurred. The cost of major renovations is included in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable 
that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the existing 
asset will flow to the Group. Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining useful life of the related 
asset. 

 
(f) Intangible assets 

Computer software 
Computer software is recorded at cost. This cost is amortised over a period of three years. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(g) Impairment of non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. 

 
(h) Financial instruments 

 
Classification of financial instruments 
 
The Group classifies financial assets and liabilities as those measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) or measured at amortised cost in accordance with IFRS 9 ‘Financial 
Instruments’. 
 
The classification is based on the business model used to manage the financial instruments as well as the 
terms of the contractual cashflows. 
   
For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. The equity 
instruments held by the Group are not held for trading. The Group has made an irrevocable election at the 
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.   
 
The Group reclassifies debt investments only when its business model for managing those assets changes.    

 
Measurement of financial instruments 
 
Debt instruments 
Measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the 
cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies its debt instruments into the following 
measurement category: 
 
Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows, where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI), are measured at amortised cost.  Interest income 
from these financial assets is included in profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.  Any gain or 
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss. Impairment losses are presented as a 
separate line item in arriving at net profit in the statement of comprehensive income.   
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(h) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Measurement of financial instruments (continued) 
 
Equity instruments 
The Group measures all equity investments at fair value.  Where the Group’s management has elected to 
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of 
fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such 
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive payments is 
established. 
 
Impairment of financial instruments 
 

The Group determines impairment of financial instruments using the expected credit loss (ECL) model. The 
Group incorporates forward-looking information and applies both the general model and the simplified 
approach when calculating ECLs.  
 
Application of the General Model 
The Group has applied the ‘general model’ as required under IFRS 9 for debt instruments other than trade 
receivables.  Under this model, the Group is required to assess on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated 
with its debt instrument assets carried at amortised cost.  The ECL will be recognised in profit or loss before a 
loss event has occurred.  The measurement of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that 
is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes.  The probability-weighted outcome considers 
multiple scenarios based on reasonable and supportable forecasts. Under current guidance, impairment 
amount represents the single best outcome; the time value of money; and reasonable and supportable 
information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current 
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 
 
ECL is calculated as the product of the Probability of default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) and Exposure 
at Default (EAD). 
 
The impairment model uses a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since origination: 
 
Stage 1 – 12-month ECL applies to all financial assets that have not experienced a significant increase in credit 
risk since origination and are not credit impaired. The ECL will be computed using a 12-month PD that 
represents the PD occurring over the next 12 months. 
 
Stage 2 – When a financial asset experiences a significant increase in credit risk subsequent to origination but 
is not credit impaired, it is considered to be in Stage 2. This requires the computation of ECL based on lifetime 
PD over the remaining estimated life of the financial asset. Provisions are higher in this stage because of an 
increase in risk and the impact of a longer time horizon being considered, compared to 12 months in Stage 1. 
 
Stage 3 – Financial assets that have an objective evidence of impairment will be included in this stage.  Similar 
to Stage 2, the allowance for credit losses will continue to capture the lifetime ECL. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(h) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Impairment of financial instruments (continued) 
 
The Group uses judgement when considering the following factors that affect the determination of impairment: 
 
Assessment of Significant Increase in Credit Risk 
The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is done on a relative basis. To assess whether the credit 
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since origination, the Group compares the risk of default 
occurring over the expected life of the financial asset at the reporting date to the corresponding risk of default 
at origination, using key risk indicators that are used in the Group’s existing risk management processes. At 
each reporting date, the assessment of a change in credit risk will be individually assessed for those considered 
individually significant and at the segment level for retail exposures. This assessment is symmetrical in nature, 
allowing credit risk of financial assets to move back to Stage 1 if the increase in credit risk since origination has 
reduced and is no longer deemed to be significant.  
 

Macroeconomic Factors, Forward-Looking Information and Multiple Scenarios 
The Group applies an unbiased and probability-weighted estimate of credit losses by evaluating a range of 
possible outcomes that incorporates forecasts of future economic conditions. 
 
Macroeconomic factors and forward-looking information are incorporated into the measurement of ECL as well 
as the determination of whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination. 
Measurement of ECLs at each reporting period reflect reasonable and supportable information at the reporting 
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 
 
The Group uses three scenarios that are probability-weighted to determine ECL. 
 
Expected Life 
When measuring ECL, the Group considers the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed 
to credit risk. All contractual terms are considered when determining the expected life, including prepayment 
options and extension and rollover options.  
 

Application of the Simplified Approach 

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires that the 
impairment provision is measured at initial recognition and throughout the life of the receivables using a lifetime 
ECL.  As a practical expedient, a provision matrix is utilised in determining the lifetime ECLs for trade 
receivables.  
 
The lifetime ECLs are determined by taking into consideration historical rates of default for each segment of 
aged receivables as well as the estimated impact of forward-looking information. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(i) Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.   
 
The cost of raw materials is determined using the weighted average cost method. The cost of work in progress 
and manufactured finished goods is determined using standard raw material cost, plus budgeted cost of labour 
and factory overheads, which approximates actual cost. The cost of goods purchased for resale is the suppliers’ 
invoice price applied on a weighted average basis.  
 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion 
and selling expenses.  
 

(j) Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. Impairment of trade receivables is determined 
using the simplified approach based on the requirements of IFRS 9 as outlined in Note 2(h) above. 
 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the 
loss is recognised in the profit or loss in selling and distribution expenses. When a trade receivable is 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited in profit or loss. 
 

(k) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried on the statement of financial position at cost. Cash equivalents are 
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, 
cash and cash equivalents comprise investment securities with less than 90 days maturity from the date of 
acquisition including cash balances, short term deposits, securities purchased under agreements to resell and 
bank overdrafts. 
 

(l) Payables 
Payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of 
business from suppliers. Payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently stated at amortised 
cost. 

  

 

 

•
•
•

•
•
•
•
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(m) Leases 
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased 
asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance 
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated 
over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
 
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities 
include the net present value of the following lease payments:  

 
• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable; 
• variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate; and 
• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees. 

 
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the 
measurement of the liability. 

 
The lease payments are discounted using the incremental borrowing rate. If that rate cannot be determined, 
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow 
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms 
and conditions. To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group uses recent third-party financing 
received by the individual lessee as a starting point. 
 
Potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate are not included in the lease 
liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the 
lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset. 
 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:  

 
• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;  
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;  
• any initial direct costs; and  
• restoration costs. 

 
Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term 
on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use 
asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.  
 
Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit 
or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.  
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(m) Leases (continued) 
The lease term is determined as the non-cancellable period of the lease and also takes account of extension 
and termination options if reasonably certain to be exercised. The extension and termination options held 
are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessor. The assessment of reasonable certainty 
is only revised if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this 
assessment, and that is within the control of the Group. 
 
Extension and termination options are included in two property leases across the Group. These are used to 
maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Group’s operations. The majority 
of extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessor. 
 
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic 
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods 
after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended 
(or not terminated).     
 
For leases of warehouses, the following factors are normally the most relevant:  

 
• If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the Group is typically reasonably certain 

to extend (or not terminate).  
• If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the Group is 

typically reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate).  
• Otherwise, the Group considers other factors including historical lease durations and the costs and 

business disruption required to replace the leased asset.  
 

The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the Group becomes 
obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant 
event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is within the 
control of the lessee. 
 
As lessor 
When assets are sold under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is recognised as a 
receivable.  The difference between the gross receivable and the present value of the receivable is 
recognised as unearned income.  Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease so as to reflect a 
constant periodic rate of return. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(n)   Borrowings and borrowings costs 
Borrowings are recognised at the proceeds received; net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost and any difference between net proceeds and the redemption value is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective 
yield method. 
 
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale. 
 
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

 
(o)  Income taxes 

Taxation expense in the statement of comprehensive income comprises current and deferred tax charges. 
 
Current tax charges are based on taxable profits for the year, which differ from the profit before tax reported 
because it excludes items that are taxable or deductible in other years, and items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated at tax rates that have been enacted at the year-
end. 
 
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be paid or recovered on differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax bases. Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability 
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the financial statements. Currently enacted tax rates are used in the determination of deferred 
income tax. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(o) Income taxes (continued) 
 

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ requires that the lessee recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The lease 
payments made by the Group are tax-deductible on a cash basis. Consequently, the tax bases of the right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are nil. The result is a taxable temporary difference in relation to the right-
of-use asset and a deductible temporary difference in relation to the lease liability. 
 
IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ provides that an entity does not recognise a deferred tax asset or a deferred tax 
liability to the extent that it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit. 
This is referred to as the initial recognition exception. 
 
IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ does not specifically address the tax effects of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. 
There are two principal approaches to the deferred tax accounting. The choice of approach is a matter of 
accounting policy, to be applied on a consistent basis. The Group’s accounting policy choice considers the 
asset and the liability separately. With this approach, the Group applies the initial recognition exemption 
separately to the right-of-use asset and lease liability. The lease transaction will not affect accounting or 
taxable profit on initial recognition and consequently there is no deferred tax accounting throughout the entire 
lease term. Instead, the temporary differences related to the right-of-use asset and the lease liability affect 
the effective tax rate and are disclosed as reconciling items when explaining the relationship between tax 
expense and accounting profit. 

 
(p) Employee benefits 

Pension obligations 
The Company participates in a defined contribution plan whereby it pays contributions to a privately 
administered fund. Once the contributions have been paid, the Company has no further payment obligations. 
The regular contributions constitute net periodic costs for the year in which they are due and are included in 
staff costs.   

  
Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal 
retirement date. The Company recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either 
terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without the possibility of 
withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
Benefits falling due more than twelve months after the year-end are discounted to present value. 

Profit-sharing plans 

A liability for employee benefits in the form of profit-sharing plans is recognised when there is no realistic 
alternative but to settle the liability and at least one of the following conditions is met: 

(i) There is a formal plan and the amounts to be paid are determined before the time of issuing the 
financial statements; or 

(ii) Past practice has created a valid expectation by employees that they will receive a profit-sharing and the 
amount can be determined before the time of issuing the financial statements. 

 
Liabilities for profit-sharing plans are expected to be settled within twelve months and are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when they are settled. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(p) Employee benefits (continued) 
 

Leave entitlements 
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made 
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the statement 
of financial position date. 
 
LTIP payments 
The Group operates an equity-settled, incentive scheme. Senior executives and key management are 
awarded stock options. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the 
options is recognised as an expense in staff costs. The total amount expensed over the vesting period is 
determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding the impact of non-marketing 
conditions. When options are exercised, the proceeds net of any transactions costs or the value transferred 
are credited to share capital. 

 
(q) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
of the amount can be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed; the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 

 
(r) Dividends 

Dividends are recorded as a deduction from equity in the period in which they are approved. 
 
 

(s) Segment reporting 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing the performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer 
who makes strategic decisions.    
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3. Financial Risk Management 
 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest 

rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk 

management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.  
 
The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk 

limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information 
systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, 
products and emerging best practices. 
 
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 

management framework.  The Board has established a Group Finance Department for managing and monitoring 
risks. This department is responsible for managing the Group’s assets and liabilities and the overall financial 

structure. It is also primarily responsible for the funding and liquidity risks of the Group. It identifies, evaluates and 
hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. 
 
(a) Credit risk 

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that its customers, clients or counterparties will 
cause a financial loss for the Group by failing to discharge their contractual obligations. Credit risk is an 
important risk for the Group’s business; management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. 
Credit exposures arise principally from the Group’s receivables from customers, investment activities and 
amounts loaned to related parties.  The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing terms 
and limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to a single counterparty or group of related counterparties. 

 
Credit review process 

The Group has a credit department whose responsibility involves regular analysis of the ability of customers 
and other counterparties to meet trade, interest, capital and other repayment obligations. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

(i) Trade and other receivables 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 

customer. The credit department has established a credit policy under which each customer is analysed 
individually for creditworthiness prior to the Group offering them a credit facility. Risky customers are 
required to provide a banker’s guarantee and credit limits are assigned to each customer, which 

represents the maximum credit allowable without approval from the credit department; these are 
reviewed semi-annually. The Group has procedures in place to restrict customer orders if the order will 
exceed their credit limits. Customers that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may 

transact business with the Group on a prepayment basis. 
 

Customers’ credit risks are monitored according to their credit characteristics such as whether the 
customer is an individual or company, industry, ageing profile, and previous financial difficulties. Trade 
and other receivables relate mainly to the Group’s wholesale, retail and food service customers.  

 
The Group’s average credit period on the sale of goods is 30 days. The Group has provided fully for all 
receivables based on an estimate of amounts that would be irrecoverable, determined by taking into 
consideration past default experience, current economic conditions and expected receipts and 
recoveries once impaired. 

 
(ii) Investments 

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing mainly in liquid securities, with counterparties 
that have high credit quality.  Accordingly, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet 
its obligations. 

 
(iii) Loans receivable 

The Group’s exposure for credit risk for loans receivable is limited to related party JP Snacks Caribbean 
Limited; which management does not expect to fail to meet its obligations. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Maximum exposure to credit risk  
 The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Receivables 3,965,410  2,513,230  3,936,560  2,482,612 

Cash and short-term deposits 7,679,736  7,661,003  7,425,124  7,478,877 

Investment securities    1,538,707  984,954  1,538,707  984,954 

Loans receivable 212,723  205,685  212,723  205,685 

 13,396,576  11,364,872  13,113,114  11,152,128 

 
The table above represents a worst-case scenario of credit risk exposure at 30 June. During the year, the 
Group did not renegotiate any trade receivables.  

 

 Loss allowance  

 

 2022 
 

2021 

 

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount 

$’000  

 Loss 
Allowance 

$’000 

 

Expected 
loss rate 

 Gross 
Carrying 
Amount 

$’000  

Loss 
Allowance 

$’000 

 

Expected 
loss rate 

0 to 30 days 2,071,699  -  -  1,531,884   460   0.03% 

31 to 60 days 596,228  -  -  370,009   111   0.03% 

60 to 90 days   200,732  -  -  119,116   60   0.05% 

90 days or more 80,451  34,026  42%  61,136   39,334   64.34% 

Gross amount  2,949,110  34,026    2,082,145  39,965   
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows: 

  The Group and Company 

   
2022 
$’000   

2021 
$’000 

At 1 July  39,965  59,900 

Provision for receivables impairment   6,891    12,881 

Bad debt written off  (4,696)  - 

Bad debt recovered  (8,134)  (32,816) 

At 30 June      34,026  39,965 

 
For loans receivable and amounts due from related parties, the impairments losses were not deemed material 
for the current year. 

 
Credit exposure for trade receivables 

 
The following table summarises the Group’s and Company’s credit exposure for trade receivables at their 
carrying amounts: 

 The Group and Company 

 
2022 
$’000   

2021 
$’000 

Retail 1,682,235  1,104,130 

Wholesale 683,933  502,013 

Hotels and Restaurants 401,569  321,212 

Export  181,373  154,790 

 2,949,110  2,082,145 

Less: Provision for credit losses (34,026)  (39,965) 

 2,915,084  2,042,180 

 
Investment securities and Loan receivables 

 
The Group has assessed that the investment securities and loan receivables have not experienced a 
significant increase in credit risk since origination and are not credit impaired. The investment securities and 
loan receivables are classified at Stage 1. The Group computed the ECL using a 12-month PD that represents 
the PD occurring over the next 12 months. The resulting expected credit loss is insignificant and has not been 
recognised in the current and prior year. There were no stage migrations in the current year and prior year. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities when they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and 
marketable securities, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities 
and the ability to close out market positions.  

 
Liquidity risk management process 

 
The Group’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the Group and monitored by the Group 
Finance Department, includes: 

 
(i) Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a regular basis. This incorporates an assessment of 

expected cash flows and the availability of high-grade collateral which could be used to secure funding 
if required.  

(ii) Maintaining committed lines of credit; and 

(iii) Optimising cash returns on investment. 
 

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing 
liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure to 
changes in interest rates and exchange rates. 
 
The Company is contingently liable to its bankers in respect of guarantees in the ordinary course of business 
totaling approximately $64,500,000 (2021 - $64,500,000). 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

Financial liabilities cash flows 
 

The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Group’s and Company’s financial liabilities at  
30 June based on contractual undiscounted payments at contractual maturity dates.  

           

 The Group 

 
Within 1 

Month  
1 to 3 

Months 
 3 to 12 
Months  

 1 to 5 
 Years  

Over 5 
 Years  

 
Total   

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  

 2022 

Liabilities       

Borrowings  136,552 142,583 538,297 695,521 - 1,512,953 

Lease liabilities 7,009 14,018 64,020 98,985 - 184,032 

Trade and other payables 3,819,389 1,685,186 178,014 - - 5,682,589 

Total financial liabilities 3,962,950 1,841,787 780,331 794,506 - 7,379,574 

 

 The Group 

 

Within 1 
Month  

1 to 3 
Months 

 3 to 12 
Months  

 1 to 5 

 Years  

Over 5 
Years Total   

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  

 2021 

Liabilities       

Borrowings  145,319 145,653 548,839 1,331,486 75,344 2,246,641 

Lease liabilities 9,135 18,270 55,111 - - 82,516 

Trade and other payables 3,190,606  830,001 275,269 - - 4,295,876  

Total financial liabilities 3,345,060  993,924 879,219 1,331,486 75,344 6,625,033  

 
Assets available to meet all the liabilities and to cover financial liabilities include cash and short-term deposits. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

 

 The Company 

 
Within 1 

Month  
1 to 3 

Months 
 3 to 12 
Months  

 1 to 5 

 Years  

Over 5 
Years Total   

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  

 2021 

       

Liabilities       

Borrowings  145,319 145,653 548,839 1,331,486 75,344 2,246,641 

Lease liabilities 9,135 18,270 55,111 - - 82,516 

Trade and other payables 3,168,823 830,001 275,269 - - 4,274,093 

Total financial liabilities 3,323,277 993,924 879,219 1,331,486 75,344 6,603,250 

 
Assets available to meet all the liabilities and to cover financial liabilities include cash and short-term deposits. 

 The Company 

 
Within 1 

Month  
1 to 3 

Months 
 3 to 12 
Months  

 1 to 5 
 Years  

 Over 5 
 Years  Total   

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  

 2022 

Liabilities       
Borrowings  136,552 142,583 538,297 695,521 - 1,512,953 
Lease liabilities 7,009 14,018 64,020 98,985 - 184,032 
Trade and other payables 3,791,970 1,580,594 282,606 - - 5,655,170 
Total financial liabilities 3,935,531 1,737,195 884,923 794,506 - 7,352,155 
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3.  Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk 
The Group takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks mainly arise from 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. Market risk is monitored by the Group 
Finance Department.  Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis. 
 
(i) Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily with respect to the US dollar. Foreign exchange 
risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities.  
 
The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by ensuring that the net exposure in foreign assets and 
liabilities is kept to an acceptable level by monitoring currency positions.  The Group further manages 
this risk by maximising foreign currency earnings and holding foreign currency balances. 
 
Concentrations of currency risk  
 
The Group and Company have accounts receivable, cash and deposits, long term receivable net of 
accounts payable and lease liabilities denominated in United States dollars, amounting to an asset of 
J$10,232,088,000 and J$9,977,926,000 at 30 June 2022 (2021 - J$1,906,313,000 and 
J$1,896,927,000) respectively. The Group and Company also have cash and deposits net of accounts 
payable denominated in Euros, amounting to an asset of J$60,857,043 (2021 - J$22,113,000).  
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

(i) Currency risk (continued) 
 

Foreign currency sensitivity 
 

The following tables indicate the currencies to which the Group and Company had significant exposure 
on their monetary assets and liabilities and forecast cash flows.  The change in currency rate below 
represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates.  The sensitivity 
analysis represents outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their 
translation at the year-end for a reasonably expected change in foreign currency rates.  
 

  The Group 

  

% Change 
in Currency 

Rate 

Effect on 
 Profit before 

Taxation 

% Change 
in 

Currency 
Rate 

Effect on 
 Profit  

before 
Taxation  

  % 

2022 

$’000 % 

2021 

$’000 

Currency:      

USD - revaluation  +1 (102,321) +2 (38,126)  

USD - devaluation  -4 409,284 -6 114,379  

EURO - revaluation  +1 (608) +2 (442) 

EURO - devaluation  -4 2,434 -6 1,327 

 

 The Company 

 

% Change 
in Currency 

Rate 

Effect on 
 Profit before 

Taxation 

% Change 
in Currency 

Rate 

Effect on 
 Profit 

 before 
Taxation 

 % 

2022 

$’000 % 

2021 

$’000 

Currency:     

USD - revaluation +1 (99,775) +2 (37,939) 

USD - devaluation -4 399,099 -6 113,816 

EURO - revaluation +1 (608) +2 (442) 

EURO - devaluation -4 2,434 -6 1,327 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. 
 
Floating rate instruments expose the Group to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate 
instruments expose the Group to fair value interest risk. 
 
The Group’s interest rate risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate 
mix of fixed and variable rate instruments.  The policy also requires it to manage the maturities of interest-
bearing financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities.  
 
The following tables summarise the exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the financial instruments at 
carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 

 

 The Group 

 

Within 1 

Month 

1 to 3 

Months 
3 to 12 

Months 
1 to 5  
Years 

Over 5 
Years 

Non-
Interest 
Bearing Total 

 $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 

 2022 

Assets        

Investment securities  141,346 - 487,887 604,008 305,466 173,414 1,712,121 

Receivables  - - - - - 3,965,410 3,965,410 

Cash and short-term 

deposits 3,588,781 4,090,488 - - - 467 7,679,736 

Long-term receivable 1,733 1,074 4,966 204,950 - - 212,723 

Total financial assets 3,731,860 4,091,562 492,853 808,958 305,466 4,139,291 13,569,990 

Liabilities        

Borrowings 130,062 130,050 496,463 652,650 - - 1,409,225 

Trade and other 

payables - - - - - 5,682,589 5,682,589 

Lease liabilities 6,132 12,358 58,125 91,413 - - 168,028 

Total financial liabilities 136,194 142,408 554,588 744,063 - 5,682,589 7,259,842 

Total interest 

repricing gap 3,595,666 3,949,154 (61,735) 64,895 305,466 (1,543,298) 6,310,148 

Cumulative interest 

repricing 3,595,666 7,544,820 7,483,085 7,547,980 7,853,446 6,310,148 - 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued) 

 

 The Group 

 

Within 1 

Month 

1 to 3 

Months 
3 to 12 

Months 
1 to 5  
Years 

Over 5 
Years 

Non-
Interest 
Bearing Total 

 $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 

 2021 

Assets        

Investment securities  - 72,715 330,112 582,127  - 58,713 1,043,667 

Receivables  - - - - - 2,513,230  2,513,230  

Cash and short-term 

deposits 4,272,335  3,388,194 - - - 474  7,661,003 

Long-term receivable - - - 197,476 - 8,209 205,685 

Total financial assets 4,272,335  3,460,909 330,112 779,603  - 2,580,626  11,423,585  

Liabilities        

Borrowings 138,938 130,050 496,463 1,241,800 69,449 - 2,076,700 

Trade and other payables - - - - - 4,295,876  4,295,876  

Lease liabilities 8,734  17,598  53,960  - - - 80,292 

Total financial liabilities 147,672  147,648  550,423  1,241,800 69,449 4,295,876  6,452,868 

Total interest repricing gap 4,124,663  3,313,261  (220,311)  (462,197)  (69,449) (1,715,250)  4,970,717  

Cumulative interest 

repricing 4,124,663  7,437,924 7,217,613 6,755,416 6,685,967 4,970,717 - 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued) 
 The Company 

 

Within 1 

Month  

 1 to 3 

Months 
3 to 12 

Months  

 1 to 5  

Years  

 

Over 

5 Years 

Non-
Interest 
Bearing Total   

 $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 

 2022 

Assets     
 

  

Investment securities  141,346 - 487,887 604,008 
305,466 

173,414 1,712,121 

Receivables - - - - - 3,936,560 3,936,560 

Cash and short-term deposits 3,334,169 4,090,488 - - - 467 7,425,124 

Long term receivable 1,733 1,074 4,966 204,950 - - 212,723 

Total financial assets 3,477,248 4,091,562 492,853 808,958 305,466 4,110,441 13,286,528 

Liabilities     
 

  

Borrowings 130,062 130,050 496,463 652,650 - - 1,409,225 

Lease liabilities 6,132 12,358 58,125 91,413 - - 168,028 

Trade and other payables - - - - - 5,655,170 5,655,170 

Total financial liabilities 136,194 142,408 554,588 744,063 - 5,655,170 7,232,423 

Total interest repricing gap 3,341,054 3,949,154 (61,735) 64,895 305,466 (1,544,729) 6,054,105 

Cumulative interest repricing  3,341,054 7,290,208 7,228,473 7,293,368 7,598,834 6,054,105 - 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued) 

 The Company 

 

Within 1 

Month  

 1 to 3 

Months 
3 to 12 

Months  

 1 to 5  

Years  

 

Over 

5 Years 

Non-
Interest 
Bearing Total   

 $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 

 2021 

Assets     
 

  

Investment securities  - 72,715 330,112 582,127 - 58,713 1,043,667 

Receivables - - - - - 2,482,612 2,482,612 

Cash and short-term deposits 4,090,209 3,388,194 - - - 474 7,478,877 

Long term receivable - - - 197,476 - 8,209 205,685 

Total financial assets 4,090,209 3,460,909 330,112 779,603 - 2,550,008 11,210,841  

Liabilities     
 

  

Borrowings 138,938 130,050 496,463 1,241,800 69,449 - 2,076,700 

Lease liabilities 8,734 17,598 53,960 - - - 80,292 

Trade and other payables - - - - - 4,274,093 4,274,093  

Total financial liabilities 147,672 147,648 550,423 1,241,800 69,449 4,274,093 6,431,085 

Total interest repricing gap 3,942,537 3,313,261 (220,311) (462,197) (69,449) (1,724,085) 4,779,756 

Cumulative interest repricing 3,942,537 7,255,798 7,035,487 6,573,290 6,503,841 4,779,756 - 

 
Interest rate sensitivity 
 
The Group and Company have no significant sensitivity to interest rate risk as all borrowings are at fixed rates. 
 
(iii) Price risk 

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or 
factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. The Group is exposed to equity price risk because of 
equity investments held and classified on the statement of financial position as FVOCI. The Group 
manages its price risk by trading these instruments when appropriate to reduce the impact of any adverse 
price fluctuations. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

(iii)  Price risk (continued) 
The table below summarises the impact of increases/ (decreases) on the Company's other components 
of equity. The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity prices had increased by 5% and 
decreased by 5% (2021 - 5% increase and decrease) with all other variables held constant. 
 

 Equity Securities 

 

Effect on  
Other 

 Components 
 of Equity 

Effect on  
Other 

 Components 
 of Equity 

Change in index: 

2022 

$’000 

2021 

$’000 

Decrease of 5% (2021 – 5%) (8,671)  (2,936) 

Increase of 5% (2021 – +5%) 8,671 2,936 

 
(d) Capital management 

 
The Group manages its capital resources according to the following objectives: 
 

(i) To continue as a going concern in order to provide benefits for stakeholders; 
 

(ii) To maintain a strong capital base which is sufficient for the future development of the Group’s operations; 
and  

 
(iii) To comply with capital requirements as stipulated by loan covenants. 

 
The Group is exposed to externally imposed capital requirements as a result of loans issued by specific 
financial institutions as follows: 
 

   Required  Actual  Actual 

     2022  2021 

Minimum current assets to current liabilities    1.20:1  2.41:1  2.39:1 

Minumum earnings before interest, taxation 
depreciation and amortisation 

  1.5  
7.97  6.56 

Maximum debt to earnings before interest, 
taxation depreciation and amortisation 

  2.33:1  
0.23:1  0.41:1 

Minimum interest cover   2.9 times  55 times  33 times 

Minimum debt service coverage margin    2.0 times  6.71 times  5.45 times 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  

(e) Fair value estimation 
Financial instruments that are measured in the statement of financial position at fair value are classified by 
level in one of the following fair value measurement hierarchy: 

•• Level 1 includes those instruments which are measured based on quoted prices in active markets for 
 identical assets or liabilities. 

•• Level 2 includes those instruments which are measured using inputs other than quoted prices within 
 level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, 
 derived from prices). 

•• Level 3 includes those instruments which are measured using valuation techniques that include inputs 
 for the instrument that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
 
The Group’s financial instruments are classified as amortised cost and FVOCI as disclosed in Note 19. 
 
The amounts included in the financial statements for cash and short-term deposits, receivables and payables, 
and due to parent company reflect their approximate fair values because of the short-term maturity of these 
instruments. 

The fair value of long-term borrowings and long-term receivables approximates carrying value as the 
contractual cash flows are at current market interest rates that are available to the Group for similar financial 
instruments. 
 
There were no transfers between the Levels. 
 

  The Group and Company 

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total   

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  2022 

Investment securities –       

     Quoted equities  173,414 - - 173,414 

 
  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total   

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  2021 

Investment securities –       

                     Quoted equities  58,713 - - 58,713 
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4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including the expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

(a) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has not made any judgements that 
would cause a significant impact on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below: 

Income taxes 

Estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are some transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The 
Company recognises liabilities for possible tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made. 
 
Impairment of investment in associate 

In assessing impairment of the Group’s investments of its associated company, JP Snacks Caribbean Limited, 

management has used a value-in-use (VIU) methodology to determine the recoverable amount. The VIU 
methodology requires management to estimate discount rates, gross profit margins and a terminal value of 
growth rate in determining the recoverable amount. These estimates are unobservable, and the recoverable 
amount is sensitive to changes in these estimates (Note 17). 
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5. Revenue 
 

Revenues can be disaggregated as follows: 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Export 1,073,369  628,009  1,073,369  628,009 

Local 37,297,276  30,709,582 
 

37,297,276  30,709,582 

Related parties 664,242  467,163 
 

664,242  467,163 

Revenue transferred at a point in time 39,034,887  31,804,754 
 

39,034,887  31,804,754 

    
 

   

Revenue from insurance contracts (being total revenue 
recognised over time) 10,993  11,676 

 

-  - 

 39,045,880  31,816,430 
 

39,034,887  31,804,754 

 
 
 
6. Other Operating Income 

 The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Bad debts recovered 8,134  32,816  8,134  32,816 

Commission income 9,995  10,112  -  - 

Discount received 24,175  25,908   24,175  25,908  

Foreign exchange gains -  69,449  -  69,449 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5,466  901  5,466  901 

Management fees (Note 13(e)) 10,229  7,314  10,229  7,314 

Other 29,333  4,515   29,333  4,515  

Rebates 31,518  32,226  31,518  32,226 

Rental income (Note 13(e)) 26,840  25,654   26,840  25,654  

Royalty income -  23,712  -  23,712 

Storage income 5,869  7,974  5,869  7,974 

 151,559  240,581 
 

141,564  230,469 
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7. Expenses by Nature 

  The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Advertising costs 432,543 
 

426,478  432,543  426,478 

Audit fees 17,299 
 

15,527   14,675  12,571 

Bad debt expense 6,891 
 

12,881  6,891  12,881 

Commissions  143,456 
 

111,358  143,456  111,358 

Cost of inventory recognised as expense 22,288,968 
 
17,919,750  22,288,968  17,919,750 

Delivery and motor vehicle expenses 1,946,242 
 

1,539,294   1,946,242  1,539,294  

Directors’ fees 18,420 
 

13,261  17,060  12,820 

Insurance 41,227 
 

30,094  293,122  274,197 

Other operating expenses 1,366,740 
 

1,209,876   1,165,218  1,013,133  

Property expenses, including depreciation 2,450,109 
 

2,082,886  2,450,109  2,082,886 

Royalties (Note 13 (d)) 26,267 
 

22,406  26,267  22,406 

Staff costs (Note 8) 5,074,512 
 

4,539,779  5,074,512  4,539,779 

Utilities 514,388 
 

342,548  514,388  342,548 

 34,327,062 
 

28,266,138   34,373,451  28,310,101  

 
8. Staff Costs 

  The Group and Company 

  2022  2021 

  $'000  $'000 

Wages and salaries  4,086,897  3,622,830 

Statutory contributions  441,421  377,465 

Other  322,264  249,290 

Pension contributions (Note 32)  169,672  158,815 

LTIP expenses  31,406  87,314 

Termination costs  22,852  44,065 

  
5,074,512  4,539,779 
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9. Finance Income 

 
 The Group and 

Company 

  2022  2021 

  $'000  $'000 

Dividend income  593  859 

Gain on disposal of investments  -  1,840 

Interest income  300,665  192,835 

     301,258  195,534  

     

 
10. Finance Costs 

 The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Interest expense -        

Bank borrowings 100,054  137,500  100,054  137,500 

Leases (Note 25) 8,725  8,319  8,725  8,319 

 108,779  145,819  108,779  145,819 

         Foreign exchange loss 34,712  -  34,712  - 

         Net foreign exchange loss on foreign currency leases     3,431  7,844  3,431  7,844 

   Other 2,137  67   772  671 

 149,059  153,730  147,694  154,334 
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11. Taxation  
 
The taxation charge is computed on the profit for the year, adjusted for tax purposes, and comprises income tax 
at 25%: 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Current income tax  1,041,019  703,574   1,041,019  702,915  

Prior year (over-accrual)/under-accrual (48,829)  60,933        (48,829)  60,933  

Deferred income tax (Note 30) (51,421)  (33,852)       (51,421)  (33,852)  

 940,769  730,655    940,769  729,996  

 
The tax on the Group’s and Company’s profit differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 
statutory tax rate as follows: 

 The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Profit before tax  4,994,452  3,802,955   4,956,564  3,766,322 

        

Tax calculated at applicable tax rate  1,248,613  950,739   1,239,141  941,581 

Adjusted for the effects of:        

Income not subject to tax (32,978)  (28,842)   (32,978)  (28,842)  

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,892  20,249  2,892  20,249  

Share of results of associate  7,031  7,431   -  - 

Employment tax credit (257,160)  (266,505)   (257,160)  (266,505)  

Adjustment to prior provision (48,829)  60,933   (48,829)  60,933  

Tax incurred at another rate -  (15,930)   -  - 

Prior year deferred tax adjustment 42,563  -  42,563  - 

Other  (21,363)  2,580  (4,860)  2,580  

Tax expense 940,769  730,655   940,769  729,996  
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12. Earnings Per Stock Unit 
 
Earnings per stock unit is calculated on net profit and is based on the weighted average number of ordinary stock 
units in issue during both years.  

 

 2022 
 

2021 

Net profit attributable to ordinary stockholders ($’000) 4,053,683  3,072,300  

Weighted average number of ordinary stock units in issue (‘000) 3,751,494  3,750,000 

Basic earnings per stock unit ($) 1.08  0.82 

 
The diluted earnings per stock unit is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary stock units  
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary stock units. 

 

 2022 
 

2021 

Net profit attributable to ordinary stockholders ($’000) 4,053,683  3,072,300  

    

Weighted average number of ordinary stock units in issue (‘000) 3,751,494  3,750,000 

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary stock units (‘000) 7,244  3,298 

 3,758,738  3,753,298 

    

Diluted earnings per stock unit ($) 1.08  0.82 
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13. Related Party Transactions and Balances 
 

Parent Entities: 
The group is controlled by the following entity: 
 

                       Entity 

Type Country of 
Incorporation 

Group’s percentage 
interest 

   2022    2021   

Wisynco Group Caribbean 
Limited 

 

Immediate parent  Barbados 74  74 

Evesam Investments Holdings 
Limited 

 

Ultimate parent Cayman Islands 36  36 

 
Subsidiary: 
Interest in subsidiary is set out in Note 2(b)(i). 
 
Associate: 
Interests in associates are set out in Note 2(b)(ii) and Note 17. 

 
Affiliates: 
Affiliates comprise companies in which the immediate parent has some share ownership. The following entities 
are affiliates of the Group: 
 

Convenient Brands Limited 
Trade Winds Citrus Limited 
Worthy Park Estate Limited 
Seville Development Corporation Limited 

 
The Group and Company entered into the following significant transactions with related parties during the year:  
 

(a) Sale of goods and services 

 The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Convenient Brands Limited 610,988  475,115  599,995  463,439 

JP Snacks Caribbean Limited          60,534  971  60,534  971 

Trade Winds Citrus Limited 695  86  695  86 

Worthy Park Estate Limited 1,644  1,638  1,644  1,638 

Key management 1,374  1,029  1,374  1,029 

 675,235  478,839  664,242  467,163 
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13. Related Party Transactions and Balances (Continued) 
 

(b) Purchases of goods and services 
 
 The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Trade Winds Citrus Limited 5,375,075  3,469,596  5,375,075  3,469,596 

Antillean Foods Inc 771,060  592,534  771,060  592,534 

Worthy Park Estate Limited 3,425,162  3,498,845  3,425,162  3,498,845 

 9,571,297  7,560,975  9,571,297  7,560,975 

        

(c) Expenses        

 The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Insurance Expense        

Indies Insurance Company Limited -  -  251,895  244,103 

        
Interest expense 
 

       

Seville Development Corporation Limited 378  357  378  357 

        

Rebates        

Convenient Brands Limited 1,731  1,019  1,731  1,019 

 

(d) Expenses     

 The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Royalties        

Trade Winds Citrus Limited 26,267  22,406  26,267  22,406 
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13. Related Party Transactions and Balances (Continued)

(e) Income
The Group and 

Company

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Interest Income

JP Snacks Caribbean Limited 5,705 5,638

Antillean Foods Inc. 1,045 -

6,750 5,638

Management Fees

Convenient Brands Limited 10,229 7,314

Rental Income 

Worthy Park Estates Limited 26,840 25,654

(f) Year-end balances The Group The Company

Receivables (Note 21) 2022 2021 2022 2021

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Receivables from affiliates -

Convenient Brands Limited 76,306 182,319 76,306 182,319

Trade Winds Citrus Limited 20,276 33,509 20,276 33,509

JP Snacks Caribbean Limited 20,920 19,337 20,920 19,337

Worthy Park Estates Limited 5,527 3,661 5,527 3,661

Other affiliates 258 383 258 383

Receivable from parent company - 5 - 5

Included in receivables and prepayments 123,287 239,214 123,287 239,214 

Long term receivable from associate

Antillean Foods Inc (Note 18) 14,749 19,225 14,749 19,225

JP Snacks Caribbean Limited (Note 18) 197,974 186,460 197,974 186,460

212,723 205,685 212,723 205,685
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13. Related Party Transactions and Balances (Continued) 
 

(f)   Year-end balances (continued)    

  The Group and Company 

Payables (Note 23)  2022  2021 

  $’000  $’000 

Payables to affiliate -      

Convenient Brands Limited  4,307  7,943 

Seville Development Corporation Limited  28,912  29,045 

Trade Winds Citrus Limited  600,043  358,068 

Worthy Park Estates Limited  350,298  266,804 

  983,560  661,860 

Payable to associate     

Antillean Foods Inc  47,327  12,289 

Included in trade and other payables   1,030,887  674,149  

 

(g)   Key management compensation    

 The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 511,372  407,504  511,372  407,504 

Statutory contributions 32,811  27,218  32,811  27,218 

Pension benefits 25,795  24,468  25,795  24,468 

 569,978  459,190  569,978  459,190 

        

Directors’ emoluments –        

Management remuneration (included above)   341,583  253,137  341,583  253,137 

Fees 18,420  13,261  17,060  12,820 
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13.  Related Party Transactions and Balances (Continued) 
 

(h) Dividends declared The Group and Company 

 2022  2021 

 $’000  $’000 

Parent company 1,110,473  832,855 

Key management 28,652  19,646 

 1,139,125  852,501 

              Included in dividends declared are dividends accrued as noted below   

       

Dividends accrued The Group and Company 

 2022  2021 

 $’000  $’000 

Parent company 555,237  555,237 

Key management 14,049  13,073 

 569,286  568,310 
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment 

  The Group and Company 

  
Land and 
Buildings 

Furniture, 
Fixtures & 

Equipment 
Motor 

Vehicles 
 Leasehold 

Improvements 
Right of use  

assets 
Work in 

Progress Total 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000   

Cost -         

At 1 July 2020  3,789,523 7,011,817 927,322 19,032 182,273 794,059 12,724,026 

Additions  1,164 252,819 110,680 6,093 57,754 221,015 649,525 

Transfers  109,418 543,515 - - - (652,933) - 
Transfers to intangible 

assets (Note 15)  - - - - - (6,086) (6,086) 

Adjustment  - 10,309  (20,703)  - - (28,245) (38,639) 

Disposals   (691) (131,790) (7,105) - - - (139,586) 

At 30 June 2021  3,899,414 7,686,670 1,010,194 25,125 240,027 327,810 13,189,240 

Additions  25,023 157,080 77,220 54,863 212,529 110,137 636,852 

Transfers   158,925 132,863 - - - (291,788) - 

Adjustment  (8,160) (18,854) - (14,754) - (7,352) (49,120) 

Disposals   - - (22,248) - - - (22,248) 

At 30 June 2022  4,075,202 7,957,759 1,065,166 65,234 452,556 138,807 13,754,724 

Depreciation -         

At 1 July 2020  624,346 4,370,432 547,939 19,032 73,786 - 5,635,535 

Charge for the year  111,642 705,167 161,493 73 92,641 - 1,071,016 

Relieved on disposal  (553) (131,790) (7,105) - - - (139,448) 

Adjustments  - (7,034) (1,733) - - - (8,767)  

At 30 June 2021  735,435 4,936,775 700,594 19,105 166,427 - 6,558,336 

Charge for the year  115,257 615,793 117,580 7,451 115,522 - 971,603 

Relieved on disposal  - - (22,248) - - - (22,248) 

Adjustments  - (15,036) - (14,755) - - (29,791) 

At 30 June 2022  850,692 5,537,532 795,926 11,801 281,949 - 7,477,900 

Net Book Value -         

30 June 2022  3,224,510 2,420,227 269,240 53,433 170,607 138,807 6,276,824 

30 June 2021  3,163,979 2,749,895 309,600 6,020 73,600 327,810 6,630,904 

 
The categorisation of right-of-use assets is detailed in Note 25. 
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15. Intangible Assets 

   
The Group 

and Company 

    

Computer 
Software 

$’000 

 

Cost -     

At 1 July 2020 
 

 180,246  

Transfer from property, plant and equipment 
 

 6,086  

 Additions 
 

 3,849  

At 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2022 
 

 190,181  

Amortisation -      

At 1 July 2020   148,084  

Charge for the year   23,850  

At 1 July 2021   171,934  

Charge for the year   11,336  

At 30 June 2022   183,270  

Net Book Amount     

30 June 2022   6,911  

30 June 2021   18,247  
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16. Investment in Subsidiaries 

  The Company 

  2022  2021 

  $’000  $’000 

Indies Insurance Company – 100% 
50,000 Ordinary shares, fully paid  11,375  11,375 

 
17. Investment in Associate 

 

 The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

At beginning of year 580,181  604,267  586,169  586,169 

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income 18,504  5,636  -  - 

Amounts recognised in profit and loss (28,124)  (29,722)  -  - 

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position 570,561  580,181  586,169  586,169 

 
Investment in associate for the current year comprise amounts recognised in the statement of financial position 
relating to ownership of 30% of the issued share capital of JP Snacks Caribbean Limited (consolidated) which 
was acquired on 29 April 2019. JP Snacks Caribbean Limited is the parent company and provides administrative 
services to its subsidiary Antillean Foods Inc. Antillean Foods Inc. manufactures and sells tropical snacks. 
 
JP Snacks Caribbean Limited and its subsidiary Antillean Foods Inc. are private companies and there is no quoted 
market price available for its shares. 
 
There are no contingent liabilities relating the Group’s interest in JP Snacks Caribbean Limited (consolidated). 

 
The Group’s share of intangible assets related to JP Snacks Caribbean Limited includes trademarks, brands, 
customer relationships with an estimated useful life of 25, 5 and 10 years respectively, as well as goodwill. 
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17. Investment in Associates (Continued) 
 
The summarised information for JP Snacks Caribbean Limited (consolidated) that was accounted for using the 
equity method as at 30 June 2022 is as follows: 
 
Summarised statement of financial position 
 

  
2022 
$’000  

2021  
$’000 

Current     

Cash and cash equivalents  25,610  71,357 

Other current assets (excluding cash)  440,910  454,467 

Total current net assets  466,520  525,824 

Other current liabilities (including trade payables)  216,572  223,134  

Total current liabilities  216,572  223,134  

Non-current      

Intangible assets  465,375  508,037 

Total non-current assets  864,306  879,736  

Total non-current liabilities  671,024  674,866  

Net assets  443,230  507,562  

 
Summarised income statement  
 

  Group  Group 

  

2022 

$’000  
2021 

 $’000 

Revenue  1,649,308  1,456,742  

Depreciation  (74,475)  (82,203)  

Amortisation  (60,246)  (57,744)  

Interest expense  (20,295)  (24,943)  

Loss before income tax  (93,746)  (97,361)  

Taxation expense  -  (1,712) 

Loss after tax   (93,746)  (99,073)  

Total comprehensive income  (32,064)  (80,288) 

 
  

Notes to the Financial Statements

WISYNCO GROUP LIMITED

30 June 2022  (expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)



128 2022 WISYNCO ANNUAL REPORT - Audited Financial Statements 

 

 

17. Investment in Associates (Continued) 
 
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of its interest in associate 

  
2022 

$’000  
2021  
$’000 

Summarised financial information     

Opening net assets  507,562  587,850 

Loss for the period  (93,746)  (99,073)  

Other comprehensive income for the period  61,681  18,785  

Closing net assets  475,497  507,562  

Interest in associates (%)  30%  30% 

Interest in associates (J$)  142,649  152,269  

Carrying value  570,561  580,181  

 
Reconciliation of investment in associate to the Company’s share of net assets: 

  The Group 

  
2022 
$’000  

2021  
$’000 

Share of net assets  142,649  152,269 

Goodwill  427,912  427,912 

Carrying value  570,561  580,181 

 
An impairment assessment was conducted by comparing the recoverable amount of the Group's investment in 
JP Snacks Caribbean Limited to the carrying amount as at 30 June 2022. Management has determined that the 
investment in JP Snacks Caribbean Limited is not impaired as the recoverable amount determined exceeds the 
carrying amount. The recoverable amount of the investment was determined based on VIU calculations as 
discussed in Note 4(b). 
 
The VIU calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a 
five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated 
below. The key assumptions used in the estimation of value-in-use were as follows: 
 

  The Group 

  2022  2021 

Pre-tax discount rate  13%  12% 

Terminal value growth rate  3%  3% 

Gross profit margin  33%  38% 
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17. Investment in Associate (Continued) 
 

If the terminal value growth rate had been 2.4% lower than management’s estimates, the carrying value of the 
investment in JP Snacks Caribbean Limited would have been equal to the recoverable amount. 
 
If the pre-tax discount rate had been 1.5% higher than management’s estimates, the carrying value of the 
investment in JP Snacks Caribbean Limited would have been equal to the recoverable amount. 
 
If the gross profit margins had been 4.7% lower than management’s estimates, the carrying value of the 
investment in JP Snacks Caribbean Limited would have been equal to the recoverable amount. 

 
18. Loans Receivable 

 
A promissory note of US$1,230,555 was issued to JP Snacks Caribbean Limited on 29 April 2019. The note matures 
29 April 2026 and interest accrues daily at an interest rate of 3% per annum payable at the maturity date. The 
carrying amount of $197,974,000 (2021 - $186,460,000) includes interest receivable of $13,969,000  
(2021 – 8,115,000). 
 
A promissory note of US$132,000 was issued to Antillean Foods Inc. on 28 April 2021. The note matures 30 June 
2024 and interest accrues daily at an interest rate of 6% per annum payable at the maturity date. The carrying 
amount of $14,749,000 (2021- $19,225,000) includes interest receivable of $146,000 (2021 - $94,000). 

 
19. Investment Securities 
 

  The Group and Company 

  
2022 
$’000  

2021 
$’000 

Equity investment securities measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income:     

Quoted  173,414  58,713 

  173,414  58,713 

Debt investment securities measured at amortised cost:     

Corporate bonds  1,538,707  984,954 

     

Total investment securities  1,712,121  1,043,667 
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19. Investment Securities (Continued) 
 

  The Group and Company 

  
2022 
$’000  

2021 
$’000 

At beginning of year  1,043,667  578,520 

Additions  640,367  768,075 

Disposals  (72,715)  (323,317) 

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain  (13,899)  9,027 

Fair value gains recognized in other reserves  114,701  11,362 

  1,712,121  1,043,667 

Current portion  (641,526)  (402,827) 

Non-current portion  1,070,595  640,840 

     
 
20. Inventories 

  The Group and Company 

  2022  2021 

  $’000  $’000 

Raw materials  1,574,474  953,736 

Finished goods  141,610  124,946 

Merchandise for resale  2,247,446  1,651,287 

 3,963,530  2,729,969 

Less: Provision for obsolete inventories  (31,666)  (11,476) 

 3,931,864  2,718,493 

Goods-in-transit  1,483,475  872,625 

  5,415,339  3,591,118 
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21. Receivables and prepayments 

 The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Trade receivables 2,949,110  2,082,145  2,949,110  2,082,145 

Less: Provision for doubtful debts (34,026)  (39,965)  (34,026)  (39,965) 

Trade receivables, net 2,915,084  2,042,180  2,915,084  2,042,180 

Prepayments 52,187  77,400  52,172  77,382 

Receivables from related parties (Note 13(f)) 123,287  239,214  123,287  239,214 

Principal receivables 142,312  117,376  142,312  117,376 

Deposits on fixed assets 604,964  16,427  604,964  16,427 

Other receivables 179,763  142,452  150,913  111,834 

 4,017,597  2,635,049  3,988,732  2,604,413 

 
22. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

 The Group  The Company 

 2022   2021     2022    2021   

 $’000    $’000  $’000    $’000   

Cash and bank balances 2,183,501  2,450,213  1,928,889  2,268,087 

Short-term deposits  5,496,235  5,210,790  5,496,235  5,210,790 

 7,679,736  7,661,003  7,425,124  7,478,877 

Bank overdrafts (Note 24)  (97,372)  (103,501)  (97,372)  (103,501) 

Balances with maturity dates over 3 months -  (291,935)  -  (291,935) 

 7,582,364  7,265,567  7,327,752  7,083,441 

 
The weighted average effective interest rates on cash and short-term bank deposits at the year-end are as follows: 
 

  2022   2021    

  %  % 

Short-term deposits –     

J$  4.13  3.20 

US$  4.88  3.44 
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23. Payables 

 The Group  The Company 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Trade payables 3,068,564  2,082,876  3,041,145  2,082,876 

Statutory contributions payable 80,570  75,482  80,570  75,482 

Dividend payable (Note 33)  750,825  750,000  750,825  750,000 

Accrued expenses 577,126  537,551  472,534  537,551 

Payables to related parties (Note 13 (f)) 1,030,887  674,149  1,030,887  674,149 

Other payables 490,444  470,272  595,036  448,489 

 5,998,416  4,590,330  5,970,997  4,568,547 

 
24. Borrowings 

(a) Composition of borrowings 

 The Group and Company 

 2022  2021 

 $’000  $’000 

Total borrowings -    

Bank loans -     

Long term 1,304,003  1,973,259 

Bank overdraft 97,372  103,501 

 1,401,375  2,076,760 

Current -     

Bank overdraft (Note 22) (97,372)  (103,501) 

Current portion of long-term loans (661,950)  (661,950) 

Total current borrowings (759,322)  (765,451) 

Non-current borrowings 642,053  1,311,309 
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24. Borrowings (Continued) 
 
(a)  Composition of borrowings (continued) 
 

 The Group and Company 

 2022  2021 

 $’000  $’000 

Non-current -    

(i)    Bank of Nova Scotia (6% - 2023) 217,500  362,500 

(ii)    National Commercial Bank (6.18% -2023) 456,000  760,000 

(iii) Bank of Nova Scotia (5.65%, 2024) 282,957  424,423 

(iv) National Commercial Bank (5.5% -2027) 347,546  426,336 

 1,304,003  1,973,259 

Less: Current portion (661,950)  (661,950) 

 642,053  1,311,309 

    

 
Non-current borrowings 
 
(i) This loan is unsecured and attracts interest at a fixed rate of 6% per annum. It is repayable over six 

years at $36,250,000 principal payments per quarter after an initial moratorium period of up to 15 
months from the initial disbursement. 

 
(ii) This loan is unsecured and attracts interest at a fixed rate of 6.18% per annum. It is repayable over 

seven years at $76,000,000 principal payments per quarter after an initial moratorium period of up to 9 
months from the initial disbursement.  

 
(iii) This loan is unsecured and attracts interest at a fixed rate of 5.65% per annum. It is repayable over 5 

years at $35,437,500 principal payments per quarter after an initial moratorium period of up to 15 
months. The carrying value includes unamortised commitment fees of $543,000 (2021 - $827,000). 

 
(iv) This loan is unsecured and attracts interest at a fixed rate of 5.5% per annum. It is repayable over seven 

years at $17,800,000 principal payments per quarter. The carrying value includes unamortised 
commitment fees of $2,054,000 (2021 - $2,464,000).  

 
Loan balance includes commitment fee of $8,000,000 paid for BNS loan not yet disbursed. 

 
The Group and Company have in place a $170 million credit card facility with National Commercial 
Bank. 
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24. Borrowings (Continued) 

(b) Interest rate risk exposure 

The weighted average effective interest rates on borrowings at the year-end were as follows: 
 

  The Group and Company 

  2022  2021 

  %  % 

Current -     

Bank overdraft  17.75 -  35.00  17.75 – 35.00 

Bank borrowings  5.50 – 6.18  5.50 - 6.18 

Non-current -     

Bank borrowings  5.50 – 6.18  5.65 - 6.18 

  
25. Leases 
 

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee. 
 

(a)  Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position 

 
  The Group and Company 

 

 30 June  
2022 
$’000 

 1 July 
2021 
$’000 

Right-of-use assets     

Land and buildings (Note 14)  170,607  73,600 

     

Lease liabilities     

Current  63,115  80,292 

Non-current  104,913  - 

  168,028  80,292 

 
 

 
 

 

 
The right-of-use assets in the statement of financial position relate to warehouse spaces leased for the storage 
of inventory. 
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25. Leases (Continued) 
 

(b) Lease liabilities  
 

 
The Group and 

Company 

 $’000 

1 July 2020 119,118 

Additions 57,754 

Lease payments (112,743) 

Interest expense 8,319 

Foreign exchange translation 7,844 

1 July 2021 80,292 

Additions 207,493 

Lease payments (131,913) 

Interest expense 8,725 

Foreign exchange translation 3,431 

30 June 2022 168,028 

  
 

Income arising from the sub-lease of right-of-use assets to a related party amounted to $26,840,000  
(2021 - $23,266,000) (Notes 6 and 13). 

 
(c) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss 

Included in profit or loss are the following amounts relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities: 
 

  The Group and Company 

 
 2022 

$’000 
  2021 

$’000 
Depreciation charge on right-of-use assets     
Land and buildings (Note 14)  115,522  92,641 

     
Interest expense   8,725  8,319 
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26. Share Capital 
  2022  2021 
  $’000  $’000 

Authorised –      
4,000,000,000 (2021 – 4,000,000,000) Ordinary stock units     

Issued and fully paid –     
3,756,250,000 (2021 – 3,750,000,000) Ordinary stock units at no 
par value  1,258,319  1,192,647 

 
An additional 6,250,000 ordinary stock units were listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange on July 1, 2021, 
increasing the Group’s total issued ordinary stock units to 3,756,250,000. Of the 6,250,000 additional stock units 
2,125,000 were retained by the Group as Treasury stock units. 

 
27. Other Reserves 
 

  The Group and Company 

  2022    2021 

  $'000    $'000   

Realised gains   24,998  24,998 

Unrealised surplus on revaluation of land and buildings  72,740  72,740 

LTIP payments, net of taxes  240,933  209,543  

Fair value gains on financial instruments – fair value 
through other comprehensive income  176,459  61,758 

  515,130  369,039  

     

  
Realised gains 
This represents realised gains on the sale of assets. 
 
Unrealised surplus on revaluation of land and building 
This represents freehold land and buildings which were valued in 1993 by Stoppi Cairney Bloomfield and the 
resulting revaluation surplus of $126,400,000 was credited to capital reserve.  The revalued amounts were used 
as the deemed cost of these assets, upon transition to IFRS. 
 
Fair value gains on financial instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial 
instruments 
This represents the fair value of quoted equity instruments. 
 
Long Term Incentive Plan payments 
The LTIP payments reserve is used to recognise the grant date fair value of options issued to employees but not 
exercised under the Group’s LTIP (Note 35). 
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28. Translation Reserve 
The translation reserve represents an accumulation of exchange differences arising on translation of the 
Company’s foreign-controlled entity and foreign associate. The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss 
when the net investment is disposed of. 

 
29. Net Profit/Retained Earnings 

 

  The Group  

  2022  2021 

   $’000  $’000 

At beginning of the year  13,432,757  11,485,457 

Net profit attributable to:     

  Company  4,015,795  3,036,326 

  Subsidiary  66,012  65,696 

  Associate  (28,124)  (29,722) 

  4,053,683  3,072,300 

Dividends  (1,501,218)  (1,125,000) 

At end of the year  15,985,222  13,432,757  
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30. Deferred Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a principal
tax rate of 25%.

The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

The Group and Company

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

At the beginning of the year 99,966 155,647

Credited to profit or loss (Note 11) (51,421) (33,852)

Credited to equity (14,660) (21,829)

At end of the year 33,885 99,966 

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year is as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

The Group and Company

Excess of 
Capital 

Allowances 
over 

Depreciation 

Unrealised 
Foreign 

Exchange 
Gain

Interest 
Receivable Leases

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2020 172,380 20,683 - - 193,063 

Credited to profit or loss (32,055) (2,328) 2,052 - (32,331)

At 30 June 2021 140,325 18,355 2,052 - 160,732

Credited to profit or loss (16,228) (5,919) 1,476 644 (20,027)

At 30 June 2022 124,097 12,436 3,528 644 140,705
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30. Deferred Income Taxes (Continued) 
 
Deferred tax assets 
 

 

Accrued 

vacation 

$’000 

Employee 

share 

option 

scheme 

Unrealised 

Foreign 

exchange 

losses  

$’000 

Interest 

payable 

$’000 

Total  

$’000 

At 1 July 2020 10,143 20,080 5,909 1,284 37,416 

Credited to profit or loss   (327) - 2,191  (343)  1,521  

Credited to equity  - 21,829  - - 21,829  

At 30 June 2021  9,816  41,909  8,100  941  60,766  

Credited to profit or loss   3,675 - 28,063 (344) 31,394 

Credited to equity - 14,660 - - 14,660 

At 30 June 2022 13,491 56,569 36,163 597 106,820 
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30. Deferred Income Taxes (Continued) 
 

The amounts shown in the statement of financial position include the following to be recovered or settled after more 
than twelve months: 

  The Group and Company 

 
 

 2022     2021  

  
$'000    $'000   

Deferred tax assets to be recovered   56,569  41,909 

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled   124,097  140,325  

 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The 
following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the statement of financial position 
 

 
 

The Group and Company 

 

 2022 

$’000  

2021 

$’000 

Deferred tax liabilities   (33,885)  (99,966) 

At end of the year 
 

(33,885) 
 

(99,966) 
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31. Cash Provided by Operating Activities   
 

Cash provided by operating activities includes the following amounts: 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 2022    2021   2022    2021   

 $'000    $'000    $'000    $'000   

Net profit 4,053,683  3,072,300   4,015,795  3,036,326  

Items not affecting cash:        

Share of results of associates (Note 17) 28,124  29,722  -  - 

Depreciation (Note 14) 971,603  1,071,016  971,603  1,071,016 

Amortisation (Note 15) 11,336  23,850  11,336  23,850 

Amortisation of loan commitment fees 694  671  694  671 

Non-cash employee benefits expense – LTIP 
payments (Note 8) 

31,406 
 

87,314 
 

31,406 
 

87,314 

Gain on sale of property, plant and   equipment (5,466)  (901)  (5,466)  (901) 

Interest income (Note 9) (300,665)  (192,835)  (300,665)  (192,835) 

Gain on sale of investment (Note 9) -  (1,840)  -  (1,840) 

Adjustment to property, plant and equipment (Note 
14) 

19,329 
 

29,872 
 

19,329 
 

29,872 

Dividend income (Note 9) (593)  (859)  (593)  (859) 

 Interest expense (Note 10) 108,779  145,819  108,779  145,819 

Taxation expense (Note 11) 940,769  730,655   940,769  729,996  

Exchange (loss)/gain on foreign currency balances 50,038  (52,716)   49,468  (58,809) 

 5,909,037  4,942,068   5,842,455  4,869,620 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:        

Inventories (1,824,221)  (274,358)  (1,824,221)  (274,358) 

Receivables and prepayments (1,382,548)  (106,675)  (1,384,319)  (77,764) 

Trade and other payables 1,408,086  840,171   1,402,450  827,130 

Cash generated from operations 4,110,354  5,401,206   4,036,365  5,344,628 

Taxation paid (1,001,905)  (737,646)  (1,000,402)  (736,657) 

Cash provided by operating activities 3,108,449  4,663,560   3,035,963  4,607,971 
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31. Cash Provided by Operating Activities (Continued) 
 

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing. 
 
Amounts represent bank and other loans, excluding bank overdrafts 

 

 
 

The Group and Company 

 

 2022 

$’000  

2021 

$’000 

At 30 June 2021   1,973,259  2,137,413 

Loans received  -  500,000 

Commitment fees paid  (8,000)  (2,875) 

Loans repaid  (661,950)  (661,950) 

Amortisation of commitment fees  694  671 

At 30 June 2022  1,304,003  1,973,259 

 
The principal non-cash transactions include the acquisition of right-of-use assets (Note 15). 

 
32. Pension Scheme 

 
The Company participates in a defined contribution pension plan administered by Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited.  
Members contribute 5% of pensionable earnings which is matched by the employer.  The employer also matches 
additional voluntary contributions, not exceeding 5%, made by members aged 45 and over who have 10 or more 
years of service.  Pension contributions for the year is noted below for the Group and the Company. 
 

 
 

The Group and Company 

 

 2022 

$’000  

2021 

$’000 

Pension contributions (Note 8)  169,672  158,815 

  169,672  158,815 
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33. Dividends 

 
34.  Segment Reporting 

 
The CODM regularly reviews local versus export sales, however, the local and export sales do not meet the 
threshold of a reportable segment under IFRS 8 and as such no separate segment information is presented. 
There are no individual customers that constitute more than 10% of total revenue and the CODM does not review 
assets and liabilities on a segment basis. 

 
35. Long Term Incentive Plan  
 

On October 1, 2019, the Company established an Long Term Incentive Plan administered by a committee of the 
Board of Directors. The Company received the approval to authorize a maximum of 5% of the total number of 
issued shares of no-par value, to be set aside for allocation and sale to the executive and other key management 
of the Company, at this year’s annual general meeting. The allocation and sale of these shares are governed by 
the provisions of the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan Policy and the plan provides for an equitable 
adjustment of the allocated number of shares by reason of stock splits, stock dividend, recapitalization, 
combinations or exchanges of shares. 
 
The plan is designed to provide long term incentives for executive and key management to deliver long-term 
shareholder returns. Under the plan, participants are granted options which vest when service conditions are 
met. Participation in the plan is at the board’s discretion, responsibility of which has been delegated to the 
Corporate Governance and Compensation sub-committee. No individual has a contractual right to participate in 
the plan or to receive any guaranteed benefits.  
 
Options are granted under the Plan for no consideration and carry no dividend or voting rights. When exercisable, 
each option is convertible into one ordinary stock unit. The exercise price of options is determined by the 
Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

  2022  2021  

  $'000  $'000 

10 cents per stock unit - 25 February 2022  -  375,000 

20 cents per stock unit - 5 August 2021 (declared on 28 June 2021)  156  750,000 

20 cents per stock unit - 1 March 2022   750,237  - 

20 cents per stock unit - 4 August 2022(declared on 27 June 2022)  750,825  - 

  1,501,218  1,125,000 
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35. Long Term Incentive Plan (Continued) 
 

Options granted under the plan during the financial year 2022 are as follows: 
 

 Average 
exercise price 

per option 
Number of 

options 
 $  
As at 1 July 2020 15.62 23,644,000 
Forfeited during the year 15.62 (1,170,200) 

As at 30 June 2021 15.62 22,473,800 
Granted during the year 14.06 25,594,000 
Exercised during the year 11.94 (4,125,150) 
Forfeited during the year 15.23 (2,927,400) 

As at 30 June 2022 15.23 41,015,250 

   
 

The number of options vested and exercisable at the year-end is 15,613,250 (2021 – 11,255,800).  
 
No options expired during the period. 
 
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and exercise prices: 

 

Grant date Expiry Date 
Exercise 

Price 
Share options 
30 June 2022 

 Share options 
30 June 2021 

1 Oct 2019 1 April 2024 7.87 390,800  2,281,400 

1 Oct 2019 1 April 2024 16.00 5,521,450  8,974,400 

1 Oct 2019 1 April 2025 23.00 9,701,000  11,218,000 

1 Apr 2022 1 April 2027 14.06 25,402,000  - 

Total   41,015,250  22,473,800 
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FORM OF PROXY

NOTE:

To be valid, Forms of Proxy must be lodged either at the Company’s Registered Office located  
at Lakes Pen Road, St. Catherine, or with the Registrar of the Company, the JCSD located at  

40 Harbour Street, Kingston, not less than 48 hours before the time of the meeting.  

The Form of Proxy should bear stamp duty of $100.00 which may be paid by adhesive  

stamps which are to be cancelled by the person signing the Proxy.

Place Stamp here

$100

I / We _____________________________________________________________________________________ 

of  ________________________________________________________________________________________ 

being a Member/Members of Wisynco Group Limited, hereby appoint:  

___________________________________________________________________________________________

of _________________________________________________________________________________________

or failing him/her: ___________________________________________________________________________

of ________________________________________________________________________________________

as my/our proxy to vote on my/our behalf at the Annual General meeting of Wisynco Group Limited to be 

held on Thursday, February 16th 2023 at 10:00 A.M. and at any adjournment thereof.  

SIGNED this ________________________ day of _____________________________________________ 202__ 

SIGNATURE of Shareholder: ___________________________________________________________________

RESOLUTIONS                                                                                       FOR                                                   AGAINST

1 

2

3 (a)

3 (b)

4

5
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Annual Report designed by Heather Kong-Smith

JAMAICA, A NATION BUILT ON EXCELLENCE, 

HAS UNDOUBTEDLY LEFT AN INDELIBLE MARK 

ON THE WORLD. THE ABILITY TO MAKE SUCH 

AN IMPACT COMES AS A DIRECT RESULT OF 

THE PRIDE, RESILIENCE AND DEDICATION 

OF ITS PEOPLE. THE MOMENTS OF HIGHS 

AND LOWS ARE COLLECTIVELY CELEBRATED 

AND REFLECTED, WITH THE SOLE AIM OF 

IMPROVING AS A NATION. IT IS WITH THIS 

OBJECTIVE IN MIND THAT WISYNCO, A PROUD 

JAMAICAN MANUFACTURER AND DISTRIBUTOR, 

CONTINUES TO PURSUE ITS GOALS OF 

STRENGTHENING BRAND JAMAICA AND  

THE FUTURE OF OUR ECONOMY.



Registered Head Office: Wisynco Group Limited, Lakes Pen, Spanish Town, St. Catherine, Jamaica

Tel: 876.665.9000  •  Fax: 876.633.5977  •   Website: www.wisynco.com


